
AUBURN HILLS MEETING SCHEDULE 
248-370-9402  |  WWW.AUBURNHILLS.ORG

JANUARY 2026 

DAY TITLE TIME LOCATION 

5 City Council Workshop 5:30 PM Administrative Conference Room 
1827 N. Squirrel Road 

5 City Council Meeting 7:00 PM Council Chamber 
1827 N. Squirrel Road 

7 Planning Commission 7:00 PM CANCELLED 

12 Library Board 7:00 PM Auburn Hills Public Library 
3400 Seyburn Drive 

12 Downtown Development 
Authority  5:30 PM CANCELLED 

13 Tax Increment Finance 
Authority 5:30 PM CANCELLED 

15 Zoning Board of Appeals 6:30 PM Council Chamber 
1827 N. Squirrel Road 

19 City Council Meeting 7:00 PM Council Chamber 
1827 N. Squirrel Road 

20 Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority Meeting 6:00 PM RESCHEDULED 

22 Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority Meeting 6:00 PM Administrative Conference Room 

1827 N. Squirrel Road 

NOTE:  Anyone planning to attend the meeting who has need of special assistance under the Americans with Disabilities 
Act (ADA) is asked to contact the City Clerk’s Office at 248.370.9402 48 hours prior to the meeting.  Staff will be pleased 
to make the necessary arrangements.   



AUBURN HILLS MEETING SCHEDULE 
248-370-9402  |  WWW.AUBURNHILLS.ORG

FEBRUARY 2026 

DAY TITLE TIME LOCATION 

2 City Council Workshop 5:30 PM Administrative Conference Room 
1827 N. Squirrel Road 

2 City Council Meeting 7:00 PM Council Chamber 
1827 N. Squirrel Road 

4 Planning Commission 6:30 PM Administrative Conference Room 
1827 N. Squirrel Road 

9 Library Board 7:00 PM Auburn Hills Public Library 
3400 Seyburn Drive 

10 Tax Increment Finance 
Authority 5:30 PM Administrative Conference Room 

1827 N. Squirrel Road 

12 Zoning Board of Appeals 6:30 PM Council Chamber 
1827 N. Squirrel Road 

16 City Council Meeting 7:00 PM Council Chamber 
1827 N. Squirrel Road 

17 Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority 6:00 PM Administrative Conference Room 

1827 N. Squirrel Road 

24 Public Safety Advisory 
Committee 5:00 PM Public Safety Building 

1899 N. Squirrel Road 

NOTE:  Anyone planning to attend the meeting who has need of special assistance under the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) is 
asked to contact the City Clerk’s Office at 248.370.9402 48 hours prior to the meeting.  Staff will be pleased to make the necessary 
arrangements.  PLEASE BE ADVISED, DUE TO A LACK OF AGENDA ITEMS, SOME MEETINGS MAY BE CANCELED.  



City Council meeting minutes are on file in the City Clerk’s Office. NOTE: Anyone planning to attend the meeting who has 
need of special assistance under the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) is asked to contact the City Clerk's Office at 
248.370.9402 or the City Manager's Office at 248.370.9440 48 hours prior to the meeting. Staff will be pleased to make the 
necessary arrangements. 

 
 

1. MEETING CALLED TO ORDER
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
3. ROLL CALL OF COUNCIL
4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES

4a. City Council Workshop Minutes, January 5, 2026 
4b. City Council Regular Meeting Minutes, January 5, 2026 

5. APPOINTMENTS AND PRESENTATIONS
5a. Motion – To confirm the appointment of Michael Long to the Tax Increment Finance Authority. 
5b. Introduction of Tess Kilian, Senior Services Program Coordinator. 

6. PUBLIC COMMENT
7. CONSENT AGENDA

All items listed are considered to be routine by the City Council and will be enacted by one motion.
There will be no separate discussion of these items unless a Council Member so requests, in which
event the item will be removed from the Consent Agenda and considered in its normal sequence on
the agenda.
7a. Board and Commission Minutes

7a1. Tax Increment Finance Authority Informational Meeting, December 17, 2025
7a2. Tax Increment Finance Authority, December 17, 2025

7b. Motion – To allow the Public Works Director or City Manager to execute a purchase agreement
for 0.54 acres of forested wetland credits as part of the Riverwalk Pathway Project.

7c. Motion – To authorize the purchase of an annual VMware licensing and support subscription. 
7d. Motion – To amend the General Fund Assessing Budget. 
7e. Motion – To approve the purchase of 139 water meters for the Meter Maintenance Program 

and new builds.  
7f. Motion – To approve the upfit of a 2026 Ford Cab & Chassis. 

8. UNFINISHED BUSINESS
9. NEW BUSINESS

9a. Motion – To approve design services for the 2026 Civic Campus Improvements. 
10. COMMENTS AND MOTIONS FROM COUNCIL
11. CITY ATTORNEY REPORT
12. CITY MANAGER REPORT
13. CLOSED SESSION

13a. Motion – To meet in closed session to discuss a confidential legal update regarding pending
litigation pursuant to MCL 15.268(1)(e) of the Open Meetings Act. 

14. ADJOURNMENT

CITY OF AUBURN HILLS 
MONDAY, JANUARY 19, 2026 

Regular City Council Meeting ♦ 7:00 PM 
Council Chamber, 1827 N. Squirrel Road, Auburn Hills MI 

248-370-9402 ♦ www.auburnhills.org

http://www.auburnhills.org/


MEETING DATE:  JANUARY 19, 2026 AGENDA ITEM NO 4A 

CITY COUNCIL 

CITY OF AUBURN HILLS 
CITY COUNCIL WORKSHOP 

 MINUTES 
JANUARY 5, 2026 

CALL TO ORDER & Mayor Hawkins at 5:30 PM 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 
LOCATION:  Admin Conference Room, City Hall, 1827 N. Squirrel Rd, Auburn Hills, MI 48326 

Present: Council Members Ferguson, Fletcher, Hawkins, Knight, Marzolf, Moniz 
Absent:  Council Member Verbeke  
Also Present:  City Manager Tanghe, Asst City Manager Skopek, City Attorney 
Kelly, City Clerk Pierce, Police Chief Gagnon, Fire Chief Robinson, Deputy Fire 
Chief Strunk, Community Development Director Cohen, Asst Community 
Development Dir Lang, Finance Director/Treasurer Schulz, Deputy Treasurer 
Jones, Accountant Moss, Asst to the Manager Hagge 

0 Guests 

Workshop Topic:  Discussion of Fire Millage 

Mr. Tanghe introduced the discussion of the fire millage.  He pointed out that the daytime population is 
far greater than the evening population due to the business headquarters and entertainment venues such 
as the mall.  He explained that costs are doubling, additional staff is needed and action needs to be taken. 
He stated that staff is recommending a 1.5 mil increase to be proposed at the August election.  If passed, 
the true impact will start in 2028. 

Chief Robinson updated Council on the current renovations at the fire stations.  He explained that Station 
1 should be done within a month and Station 3 is about one month behind.  Renovations at Station 2 will 
begin once the renovations at Stations 1 and 3 are complete. 

Chief Robinson reviewed the revenues and expenditures in the current budget.  If no action is taken, the 
five-year budget includes spending deficit each year.   Discussion ensued regarding EMS billing, the 
increase in call volume and the number of concurrent calls for service.  In addition, response times, mutual 
aid and staffing levels were discussed.  Chief Robinson explained the current staffing model compared to 
a model showing an increase in staffing, which increases the number of vehicles available to respond. 



Page 2 
 
 
Chief Robinson reviewed the millage options, and the mill impact on the fund balance.  Mr. Tanghe 
summarized the breakdown of the millages from other communities and where Auburn Hills fits in 
comparison to others.  A 1.5 mill increase is projected to cover costs for 12-15 years. 
 
Council agreed that a 1.5 mill increase should be presented to voters at the August election. 
 
The meeting adjourned at 6:53 PM. 
 
 

 
Eugene Hawkins III, Mayor  Laura M. Pierce, City Clerk 



MEETING DATE:  JANUARY 19, 2026 AGENDA ITEM NO 4B 

CITY COUNCIL 

CITY OF AUBURN HILLS 
REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

DRAFT MINUTES 
JANUARY 5, 2026 

CALL TO ORDER & Mayor Hawkins at 7:00 PM. 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 
LOCATION: Council Chamber, 1827 N. Squirrel Road, Auburn Hills MI 
ROLL CALL: Present:  Council Members Ferguson, Fletcher, Hawkins, Knight, Marzolf, Moniz  

Absent:   Council Member Verbeke. 
Also Present:  City Manager Tanghe, Asst City Manager Skopek, City Attorney Kelly, 
City Clerk Pierce, Police Chief Gagnon, Fire Chief Robinson, Community Development 
Director Cohen, Asst Community Development Director Lang, Mgr. of Municipal 
Properties Wisser, Engineer Driesenga 

6 Guests  

A workshop session was held prior to the regular City Council meeting at 5:30 PM.  Workshop Topic:  Discussion 
of Fire Millage. 

4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
4a. City Council Workshop Minutes, December 8, 2025 
Moved by Ferguson, Seconded by Moniz. 

RESOLVED: To approve the City Council Workshop Minutes of December 8, 2025. 
VOTE: Yes:  Ferguson, Fletcher, Hawkins, Knight, Marzolf, Moniz 

No: None 
Resolution No. 26.01.001 Motion Carried (6 - 0) 

4b. City Council Regular Meeting Minutes, December 8, 2025 
Moved by Ferguson, Seconded by Marzolf. 

RESOLVED: To approve the City Council Regular Meeting Minutes of December 8, 2025. 
VOTE: Yes:  Ferguson, Fletcher, Hawkins, Knight, Marzolf, Moniz 

No: None 
Resolution No. 26.01.002 Motion Carried (6 - 0) 



City Council Meeting – January 5, 2026 
Page 2 
 
5. APPOINTMENTS AND PRESENTATIONS 
5a. Motion -  To confirm the appointment of Sam Beidoun to the Zoning Board of Appeals, ending on July 

31, 2026. 
Moved by Moniz, Seconded by Ferguson. 

RESOLVED: To confirm the appointment of Sam Beidoun to the Zoning Board of Appeals, ending 
on July 31, 2026. 

VOTE: Yes:  Ferguson, Fletcher, Hawkins, Knight, Marzolf, Moniz 
 No: None 
Resolution No. 26.01.003       Motion Carried (6 - 0) 
 
 
6. PUBLIC COMMENT 
There was no public comment. 
 

7. CONSENT AGENDA 
7a. Board and Commission Minutes 
 7a1. Downtown Development Authority Informational Meeting, December 1, 2025 
 7a2. Downtown Development Authority, December 1, 2025 
 7a3. Planning Commission, December 10, 2025 
 RESOLVED:  To receive and file the Board and Commission Minutes. 
 

Moved by Fletcher, Seconded by Knight. 
RESOLVED: To approve the Consent Agenda. 

VOTE: Yes:  Ferguson, Fletcher, Hawkins, Knight, Marzolf, Moniz 
 No: None 
Resolution No. 26.01.004       Motion Carried (6 - 0) 
 

8. UNFINISHED BUSINESS  
9. NEW BUSINESS 
10. COMMENTS AND MOTIONS FROM COUNCIL 
Mr. Knight commented that he appreciates the downtown ambiance.  He shared that he feels the City had an 
outstanding year.     
 

Dr. Fletcher thanked the staff at Hawk Woods and commented that they were outstanding during an event 
that she had there.   
 

Mr. Marzolf thanked the Fire Chief for the presentation at the workshop.     
 

Mayor Hawkins also thanked staff for the workshop and informed residents of the Budget Guide that explains 
how the tax dollars are used. 
  

11. CITY ATTORNEY REPORT 
12. CITY MANAGER REPORT 
Mr. Tanghe commented that there is a new business in the downtown area, Common Roots.   

 
13. ADJOURNMENT 
Moved by Moniz, Seconded by Fletcher. 



City Council Meeting – January 5, 2026 
Page 3 
 

RESOLVED: To adjourn the meeting. 
VOTE: Yes:  Ferguson, Fletcher, Hawkins, Knight, Marzolf, Moniz 
 No: None 
Resolution No. 26.01.005       Motion Carried (6 - 0) 
 
The meeting adjourned at 7:11 PM. 

 
 

Eugene Hawkins III, Mayor  Laura M. Pierce, City Clerk 
 



MEETING DATE: JANUARY 19, 2025 AGENDA ITEM NO 5A 

CITY MANAGER’S OFFICE 

To: City Council 
From: Eugene Hawkins, III, Mayor; Andrew Hagge, Assistant to the City Manager 
Submitted: January 12, 2026 
Subject: Motion – To confirm the appointment of Michael Long to the Tax Increment Finance 

Authority 

INTRODUCTION AND HISTORY 
Please consider confirming the following appointment to fulfill a four-year term. 

Name Board Term Ending Date 
Michael Long Tax Increment Finance Authority 2-28-2029

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
After consulting with Mr. Hagge, I recommend that Michael Long be appointed to the Tax Increment Finance 
Authority. Mr. Long has a history of both living and working in the City of Auburn Hills. His experience as a resident 
and professional in the City of Auburn Hills will prove useful and supportive to goals of the Tax Increment Finance 
Authority. 

MOTION 

Move to confirm the appointment of Michael Long to the Tax Increment Finance Authority for a term ending 
February 28, 2029 





MEETING DATE:  JANUARY 13, 2025 AGENDA ITEM NO 7A1 

TAX INCREMENT FINANCE AUTHORITY 

“Not Yet Approved” 
CITY OF AUBURN HILLS 

TAX INCREMENT FINANCE AUTHORITY INFORMATIONAL MEETING 

December 17, 2025 

CALL TO ORDER: Chairman Kneffel called the meeting to order at 5:05 PM. 

ROLL CALL: Present: Kneffel, Goodhall, Eldredge, Barash, Ferro 
Absent: None 
Also Present: Andrew Hagge, Assistant to the City Manager / TIFA Executive Director 
Guests: Jack Ferguson, Auburn Hills City Council 

LOCATION: Auburn Hills City Hall, Administrative Conference Room, 1827 N. Squirrel Road, Auburn Hills, MI 48326 

PERSONS WISHING TO BE HEARD 

None. 

REVIEW OF PROJECTS COMPLETED OVER THE LAST YEAR 

Mr. Hagge reviewed the list of completed TIFA projects in each TIF District in fiscal year 2025. 

FISCAL YEAR 2026 PLANS 

Mr. Hagge reviewed the project plans for each TIF District in fiscal year 2026. 

ADJOURNMENT 

Moved by Mr. Goodhall to adjourn the TIFA Informational Meeting. 
Seconded by Mr. Ferro 

Yes:   Kneffel, Goodhall, Eldredge, Barash, Ferro 
No: none  

Motion carried 
The TIFA Informational Meeting adjourned at 5:20 p.m. 

Steve Goodhall  Andrew Hagge 
Secretary of the Board Assistant to the City Manager 



MEETING DATE: JANUARY 13, 2025 AGENDA ITEM NO 7A2 

TAX INCREMENT FINANCE AUTHORITY 

“Not Yet Approved” 
CITY OF AUBURN HILLS 

TAX INCREMENT FINANCE AUTHORITY MEETING 

December 17, 2025 

CALL TO ORDER: Chairman Kneffel called the meeting to order at 5:20 PM. 

ROLL CALL: Present: Kneffel, Goodhall, Barash, Fletcher, Ferro 
Absent: None 
Also Present: Andrew Hagge, Assistant to the City Manager/Executive Director 
Guests: Jack Ferguson, Auburn Hills City Council 

LOCATION: Administrative Conference Room, 1827 N. Squirrel Road, Auburn Hills, MI 48326 

PERSONS WISHING TO BE HEARD 

None 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

A. TIFA Informational Meeting Minutes – November 11, 2025

There was no discussion on the approval of the minutes. 

Moved by Mr. Goodhall to approve the TIFA Board of Directors Informational Meeting Minutes from November 11, 2025, 
as presented. 
Seconded by Dr. Fletcher 

Yes: Kneffel, Goodhall, Fletcher, Barash, Ferro 
No: none 

Motion Carried 

B. TIFA Regular Meeting Minutes – November 11, 2025

There was no discission on the approval of the minutes. 

Moved by Mr. Goodhall to approve the TIFA Board of Directors Regular Meeting Minutes from November 11, 2025, as 
presented.  
Seconded by Dr. Fletcher 

Yes: Kneffel, Goodhall, Fletcher, Barash, Ferro 
No: none 

Motion Carried 



Page 2 
 
 
CORRESPONDENCE & PRESENTATIONS 
 
None 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 

A. FY 2025 Adopted Budget and YTD Summary – November 30, 2025 
 
There was no discussion of the Consent Agenda. 
 
Moved by Dr. Fletcher to approve the Consent Agenda. 
Seconded by Mr. Ferro 
  

Yes: Kneffel, Goodhall, Fletcher, Barash, Ferro 
 No: None 
 

Motion Carried 
 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 
None 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 

A. Election of Officers 
 
Mr. Hagge called for nominations for 2026 Chairperson of the TIFA Board of Directors. Mr. Kneffel was nominated by Dr. 
Fletcher. Nomination was supported by Mr. Goodhall. Mr. Hagge called roll, there were no objections or further nominations. 
 
 Yes: Kneffel, Goodhall, Barash, Fletcher, Ferro 
 No: None 
 

Motion Carried 
 

Mr. Hagge called for nominations for 2026 Vice Chairperson of the TIFA Board of Directors. Mr. Barash was nominated by Mr. 
Kneffel. Nomination was supported by Mr. Goodhall. Mr. Hagge called roll, there were no objections or further nominations. 
 
 Yes: Kneffel, Goodhall, Barash, Fletcher, Ferro 
 No: None 
 

Motion Carried 
 

Mr. Hagge called for nominations for 2026 Secretary of the TIFA Board of Directors. Mr. Goodhall was nominated by Dr. 
Fletcher. Nomination was supported by Mr. Ferro. Mr. Hagge called roll, there were no objections or further nominations. 
 
 Yes: Kneffel, Goodhall, Barash, Fletcher, Ferro 
 No: None 
 

Motion Carried 
 
 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR REPORT 
 
Mr. Hagge brought a potential grant opportunity to the attention to the Board within the TIF-B district. Mr. Hagge was 
approached by the property owner at 1989 N. Opdyke Road. The property owner plans to redevelop and further invest in the 



Page 3 
 
stated property. Some of the redevelopment efforts fall within the allowability of the existing Site Improvement Grant 
opportunity that exists within TIF-B. Mr. Hagge relayed the property owner’s potential redevelopment efforts to the Board, 
which include the installation of electric vehicle charging stations, landscaping improvements, and the addition of new signage. 
The Board expressed concern regarding the electric vehicle charging stations, because of the lessening demand for electric 
vehicles in general and the worry that the stations could be moved to a different site, perhaps outside of the TIF-B district for 
example. The Board did not see anything wrong with the improvements involving landscaping or signage.  
 
BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS 
 
None 
 
ANNOUNCEMENT OF NEXT MEETING 
 
The next regularly scheduled TIFA Board of Directors meeting is scheduled for Tuesday, January 13, 2025, at 5:30 p.m. in the 
City Hall Administrative Conference Room located at, 1827 N. Squirrel Road, Auburn Hills, Michigan 48326. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
Moved by Mr. Goodhall to adjourn the TIFA Board meeting. 
Seconded by Mr. Barash 
 

Yes: Kneffel, Goodhall, Barash, Fletcher, Ferro 
 No: None 
 

Motion carried  
 
The TIFA Board of Directors meeting adjourned at 5:56 p.m. 
 
Steve Goodhall     Andrew Hagge 
Secretary of the Board    Assistant to the City Manager 



MEETING DATE:  JANUARY 19, 2026 AGENDA ITEM NO 7B 

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 

To: Mayor and City Council 
From: Thomas A. Tanghe, City Manager; Stephen Baldante, Public Works Director 
Submitted: January 13, 2026 
Subject: Motion – To allow the Public Works Director or City Manager to execute a purchase 

agreement for 0.54 acres of forested wetland credits as part of the Riverwalk Pathway 
Project 

INTRODUCTION AND HISTORY 
Budgeted in 2026 is the construction of Phase B of the proposed Riverwalk Pathway Project which extends near the 
Clinton River from Riverwoods Park to the Skate Park. Phase A is scheduled for completion in 2027 upon completion 
of the Residences at River Trail housing project and will connect pathway from Riverwoods Park to Old Adams Road. 
In order to obtain a permit from the Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy (EGLE), the city 
must purchase 0.54 acres of forested wetland credits to mitigate the impact of impacted wetland areas and 
floodplain associated with the project. 

Attached as Exhibit A is the Wetland Mitigation Sales Agreement with 72nd Ave Farm, LLC (Berlin Mitigation Bank) 
which needs to be signed for by the Public Works Director or City Manager. The purchase of 0.54 acres of wetland 
mitigation credits is being requested as the project requires a 24-foot-long culvert as well as a small bridge causing 
impact to the floodplain and wetland areas. EGLE has a methodology for the establishment and operation of 
wetland mitigation banks including the sale of wetland mitigation credits under Part 303 Wetland Protection of the 
Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act to mitigate impact upon the wetland. The purchase of the 
wetland mitigation credits is the last contingency remaining before EGLE will fully approve the requested permit. 
approved the funding totaling $81,000 to purchase the forested wetland credits necessary to obtain the permit 
from EGLE for the Riverwalk Pathway Project. The purchase agreement has been reviewed by the legal team and is 
in acceptance of the terms of the agreement.  

The execution of this sales agreement is contingent upon funding approval from the TIFA Board, totaling $81,000 
for the purchase of the wetland mitigation credits. The request for funding will be brought to the next scheduled 
TIFA meeting.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommend executing the Wetland Mitigation Sales Agreement with 72nd Ave Farm, LLC for the purchase of 
0.54 acres of forested wetland credits needed to finalize the permit with EGLE for the Riverwalk Pathway Project 

MOTION 
Move to allow the Public Works Director or City Manager to execute a Wetland Mitigation Sales Agreement with 
72nd Ave Farm, LLC for the purchase of wetland mitigation credits needed to obtain the permit from EGLE for the 
Riverwalk Pathway Project subject to funding approval from the TIFA Board.  

I CONCUR: 

THOMAS A. TANGHE, CITY MANAGER 



STATE OF MICHIGAN

DEPARTMENT OF
ENVIRONMENT, GREAT LAKES, AND ENERGY

WATER RESOURCES DIVISION

DEBORAH A. STABENOW BUILDING • 525 WEST ALLEGAN STREET • P.O. BOX 30458 • LANSING, MICHIGAN 48909-7958
Michigan.gov/EGLE • 800-662-9278

GRETCHEN WHITMER
GOVERNOR

PHILLIP D. ROOS
DIRECTOR

December 23, 2025

City of Auburn Hills, Attn: Steve Baldante
1500 Brown Rd 
Auburn Hills, MI 48326

Dear Steve Baldante:

SUBJECT: Draft Permit for Countersignature; Submission Number:  HQ7-7NXE-
1ZSJQ; County: Oakland; Project Name: River Woods Park Improvements

The Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy (EGLE), Water Resources 
Division (WRD), has reviewed the above-referenced application for permit pursuant to 
Part 31, Water Resources Protection; Part 301, Inland Lakes and Streams; and Part 
303, Wetlands Protection, of the Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act, 
1994 PA 451, as amended.  The purpose of the project, as depicted in your application, 
is to construct a bridge, a culvert, and pathways to expand and connect a public trail 
network.

The WRD has considered, among other pertinent concerns, the purpose and intended 
use of the project in relation to its placement, resource impacts, and site 
conditions.   We have determined that the project as proposed cannot be permitted for 
the following reasons: the project plans require a restoration plan for proposed 
temporary impacts.

The WRD can, however, issue a permit for a modified project that includes restoration 
instructions for the temporary wetland impacts, including a Michigan-native wetland 
seeding mix.  This is necessary to ensure adequate protection of the natural 
resources.   

The permit also requires that mitigation through the purchase of wetland mitigation 
credits in a manner described in the permit be completed as a condition of EGLE 
issuing the final permit. This permit requires both emergent and forested wetland 
mitigation credits. Please note that forested wetland credits can be purchased in lieu of 
emergent wetland credits so long as it is in the amount stipulated by the permit. 
Emergent credits however cannot be purchased in lieu of forested credits. 

 Based on our email correspondence dated December 12, 2025, enclosed is a modified 
draft permit that requires a countersignature that authorizes the resources impacts 
applied for.

We have determined that the project as proposed can be permitted.  Enclosed is a draft 
permit that requires a countersignature.



City of Auburn Hills, Attn: Steve Baldante
Page 2
December 22, 2025

Carefully review and fully understand the draft permit and all of its associated terms and 
conditions.  As the permittee, you are responsible for assuring that the project is 
completed as authorized and in compliance with permit requirements.  If you agree to all 
of the terms and conditions, sign the draft permit in the space provided, initial each of 
the drawings, and return the entire document to our office within 30 days of the date of 
this letter.

This permit is not valid until signed by an official of the WRD.  Upon return of the signed 
and initialed document from you, the WRD will issue the permit in a timely manner and 
return a signed copy to you.  Construction activity is not authorized to begin until a valid 
permit is held at the project site.  If you do not return the signed and initialed document 
by the required date, an application denial letter will be sent to you.

If you have any questions regarding the specifics of this draft permit, please contact me 
at (586) 256-7274; primeaur@michigan.gov; or EGLE, WRD, P.O. Box 30458, Lansing, 
Michigan 48909-7958; Please include your submission number, HQ7-7NXE-1ZSJQ, in 
your response.

Sincerely,

Robert Primeau
Warren District Office
Water Resources Division

Enclosure
cc:  Pat Durack, EGLE
       Cleyo Harris, DNR Fisheries
       Auburn Hills Clerk
       Oakland County Water Resources - CEA
       Oakland County
       Hannah Driesenga, OHM Advisors
       Abby Boger, OHM Advisors
       Nick Nelson, OHM Advisors
       Adam Rychwalski, OHM Advisors



MICHIGAN DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENT, GREAT LAKES, AND ENERGY
WATER RESOURCES DIVISION

PERMIT

Issued To:

City of Auburn Hills, Attn: Steve Baldante
1500 Brown Rd
Auburn Hills, MI 48326

Permit No: WRP047478 v.1
Submission No.: HQ7-7NXE-1ZSJQ
Site Name: Auburn Hills CM
Issued: DRAFT
Revised:
Expires: DRAFT 

This permit is being issued by the Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and 
Energy (EGLE), Water Resources Division, under the provisions of the Natural Resources and 
Environmental Protection Act, 1994 PA 451, as amended (NREPA); specifically:

 Part 301, Inland Lakes and Streams  Part 323, Shorelands Protection and Management
 Part 303, Wetlands Protection  Part 325, Great Lakes Submerged Lands
 Part 315, Dam Safety  Part 353, Sand Dunes Protection and Management
 Part 31, Water Resources Protection (Floodplain Regulatory Authority)

EGLE certifies that the activities authorized under this permit are in compliance with the State 
Coastal Zone Management Program and certifies without conditions under the Federal Clean 
Water Act, Section 401 that the discharge from the activities authorized under this permit will 
comply with Michigan’s water quality requirements in Part 31, Water Resources Protection, of 
the NREPA and associated administrative rules, where applicable.

Permission is hereby granted, based on permittee assurance of adherence to State of 
Michigan requirements and permit conditions, to:

Authorized Activity:
For the purposes of constructing trailways at River Woods Park:

Construct a 82 foot, 10 inch-long and 10 foot-wide bridge across the Clinton River and approximately 
190 linear feet of approximately 10 foot-wide boardwalk through wetland upon a series of 12 piers on 
either side of the bridge, 75 feet on one side and 115 feet on the other, and connected to the bridge 
by concrete abutments constructed in wetland. This permit authorizes 1.5 cubic yards of fill within the 
floodway.



City of Auburn Hills, Attn: Steve Baldante 2 WRP047478 v.1

Install 24 foot-long, 45-inch by 29-inch elliptical culvert with 7 foot-long flared end sections on either 
end in an unnamed stream flowing into the Clinton River. 

Place 171 cubic yards of fill in wetland, and excavate 71 cubic yard of fill from wetland, to construct a 
series of asphalt and aggregate pathways as described in the attached approved plans that would 
permanently impact 0.31 acres of wetlands. 

Temporarily impact an additional 0.1 acres of wetland during the period of construction and restore 
with a wetland seed mix.

All work shall be in accordance with the attached approved plans and the specific terms and 
conditions of this permit. 

Waterbody Affected: Clinton River, unnamed stream, unnamed wetland, 100-year floodplain area
Property Location: Oakland County, City of Auburn Hills, Town/Range/Section 03N10E14, 

Property Tax No.14-25-380-005, 14-25-401-004, 14-22-327-005, 14-25-401-
003, 14-25-401-006, and 14-25-276-006

Authority granted by this permit is subject to the following limitations:
A. Initiation of any work on the permitted project confirms the permittee's acceptance and agreement 

to comply with all terms and conditions of this permit.
B. The permittee, in exercising the authority granted by this permit, shall not cause unlawful pollution 

as defined by Part 31 of the NREPA.
C. This permit shall be kept at the site of the work and available for inspection at all times during the 

duration of the project or until its date of expiration.
D. All work shall be completed in accordance with the approved plans and specifications submitted 

with the application and/or plans and specifications attached to this permit.
E. No attempt shall be made by the permittee to forbid the full and free use by the public of public 

waters at or adjacent to the structure or work approved.
F. It is made a requirement of this permit that the permittee give notice to public utilities in 

accordance with 2013 PA 174 (Act 174) and comply with each of the requirements of Act 174.
G. This permit does not convey property rights in either real estate or material, nor does it authorize 

any injury to private property or invasion of public or private rights, nor does it waive the necessity 
of seeking federal assent, all local permits, or complying with other state statutes.

H. This permit does not prejudice or limit the right of a riparian owner or other person to institute 
proceedings in any circuit court of this state when necessary to protect his rights.

I. Permittee shall notify EGLE within one week after the completion of the activity authorized by this 
permit by completing and forwarding the attached preaddressed postcard to the office addressed 
thereon.

J. This permit shall not be assigned or transferred without the written approval of EGLE.
K. Failure to comply with conditions of this permit may subject the permittee to revocation of permit 

and criminal and/or civil action as cited by the specific state act, federal act, and/or rule under 
which this permit is granted.

L. All dredged or excavated materials shall be disposed of in an upland site (outside of floodplains, 
unless exempt under Part 31 of the NREPA, and wetlands).

M. In issuing this permit, EGLE has relied on the information and data that the permittee has provided 
in connection with the submitted application for permit.  If, subsequent to the issuance of a permit, 
such information and data prove to be false, incomplete, or inaccurate, EGLE may modify, revoke, 
or suspend the permit, in whole or in part, in accordance with the new information.



City of Auburn Hills, Attn: Steve Baldante 3 WRP047478 v.1

N. The permittee shall indemnify and hold harmless the State of Michigan and its departments, 
agencies, officials, employees, agents, and representatives for any and all claims or causes of 
action arising from acts or omissions of the permittee, or employees, agents, or representative of 
the permittee, undertaken in connection with this permit.  The permittee's obligation to indemnify 
the State of Michigan applies only if the state: (1) provides the permittee or its designated 
representative written notice of the claim or cause of action within 30 days after it is received by 
the state, and (2) consents to the permittee's participation in the proceeding on the claim or cause 
of action.  It does not apply to contested case proceedings under the Administrative Procedures 
Act, 1969 PA 306, as amended, challenging the permit.  This permit shall not be construed as an 
indemnity by the State of Michigan for the benefit of the permittee or any other person.

O. Noncompliance with these terms and conditions and/or the initiation of other regulated activities 
not specifically authorized shall be cause for the modification, suspension, or revocation of this 
permit, in whole or in part.  Further, EGLE may initiate criminal and/or civil proceedings as may be 
deemed necessary to correct project deficiencies, protect natural resource values, and secure 
compliance with statutes.

P. If any change or deviation from the permitted activity becomes necessary, the permittee shall 
request, in writing, a revision of the permitted activity from EGLE.  Such revision request shall 
include complete documentation supporting the modification and revised plans detailing the 
proposed modification.  Proposed modifications must be approved, in writing, by EGLE prior to 
being implemented.

Q. This permit may be transferred to another person upon written approval of EGLE.  The permittee 
must submit a written request to EGLE to transfer the permit to the new owner.  The new owner 
must also submit a written request to EGLE to accept transfer.  The new owner must agree, in 
writing, to accept all conditions of the permit.  A single letter signed by both parties that includes 
all the above information may be provided to EGLE.  EGLE will review the request and, if 
approved, will provide written notification to the new owner.

R. Prior to initiating permitted construction, the permittee is required to provide a copy of the permit to 
the contractor(s) for review.  The property owner, contractor(s), and any agent involved in 
exercising the permit are held responsible to ensure that the project is constructed in accordance 
with all drawings and specifications.  The contractor is required to provide a copy of the permit to 
all subcontractors doing work authorized by the permit.

S. Construction must be undertaken and completed during the dry period of the wetland.  If the area 
does not dry out, construction shall be done on equipment mats to prevent compaction of the soil.

T. Authority granted by this permit does not waive permit requirements under Part 91, Soil Erosion 
and Sedimentation Control, of the NREPA, or the need to acquire applicable permits from the 
County Enforcing Agent (CEA).

U. Authority granted by this permit does not waive permit requirements under the authority of Part 
305, Natural Rivers, of the NREPA.  A Natural Rivers Zoning Permit may be required for 
construction, land alteration, streambank stabilization, or vegetation removal along or near a 
natural river.

V. The permittee is cautioned that grade changes resulting in increased runoff onto adjacent property 
is subject to civil damage litigation.

W. Unless specifically stated in this permit, construction pads, haul roads, temporary structures, or 
other structural appurtenances to be placed in a wetland or on bottomland of the water body are 
not authorized and shall not be constructed unless authorized by a separate permit or permit 
revision granted in accordance with the applicable law.

X. For projects with potential impacts to fish spawning or migration, no work shall occur within fish 
spawning or migration timelines (i.e., windows) unless otherwise approved in writing by the 
Michigan Department of Natural Resources, Fisheries Division.



City of Auburn Hills, Attn: Steve Baldante 4 WRP047478 v.1

Y. Work to be done under authority of this permit is further subject to the following special 
instructions and specifications:

Wetland Mitigation Credits
The permittee shall, as a primary condition of this permit, mitigate the loss of 0.31 acres of wetland, 
consisting of emergent (0.17 acres), and forested (0.14 acres) wetland by acquiring the following 
credits from the Berlin Mitigation Bank: 0.26 emergent acres, and 0.28 forested acres.  

The permittee shall submit documentation of credit acquisition to EGLE prior to signature and 
issuance of this permit by EGLE. 

Federal Threatened and Endangered Species:
Issuance of this permit is contingent upon the effect determinations to federally listed threatened and 
endangered species, as can be found within the United States Fish and Wildlife Service “All Species 
Michigan Determination Key” verification letter provided with the permit application. The permittee is 
responsible for adhering to all of the agreed-upon conservation measures listed in the verification 
letter.

Eastern massasauga: 
a. Materials used for erosion control and site restoration must be wildlife friendly. Do not 

use erosion control products containing plastic mesh netting or other similar material 
that could entangle eastern massasauga rattlesnake (EMR). Several products for soil 
erosion and sedimentation control exist that do not contain plastic netting including net-
less erosion control blankets (for example, made of excelsior), loose mulch, hydraulic 
mulch, soil binders, unreinforced silt fences, and straw bales. Others are made from 
natural fibers (such as jute) and loosely woven together in a manner that allows wildlife 
to wiggle free.

b. To increase human safety and awareness of EMR, those implementing the project must 
first review the EMR factsheet (available at 
https://www.fws.gov/media/easternmassasauga- rattlesnake-fact-sheet), and watch 
MDNR’s “60-Second Snakes: The Eastern
Massasauga Rattlesnake” video (available at https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=-
PFnXe_e02w).

c. During project implementation, report sightings of any federally listed
species, including EMR, to the Service within 24 hours.

Listed bats:
a. When installing new or replacing existing permanent lights, the permittee will use 

downward-facing, full cut-off lens lights (with same intensity or less for replacement 
lighting); or for those transportation agencies using the BUG system developed by the 
Illuminating Engineering Society, the goal is to be as close to 0 for all three ratings with 
a priority of “uplight” of 0 and “backlight” as low as practicable. The permittee will direct 
temporary lighting away from suitable listed bat habitat during the active season. 

b. All tree clearing activities associated with this permitted project shall be limited to 
between October 1 and March 31 of any year this permit is active.

https://www.fws.gov/media/easternmassasauga-
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=-PFnXe_e02w
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=-PFnXe_e02w


City of Auburn Hills, Attn: Steve Baldante 5 WRP047478 v.1

1. Prior to the start of construction, all adjacent non-work wetland areas shall be protected by a 
properly trenched sedimentation barrier to prevent sediment from entering the wetland. Orange 
construction fencing shall be installed as needed to prohibit construction personnel and 
equipment from entering or performing work in these areas. Fence shall be maintained daily 
throughout the construction process. Upon project completion, the accumulated materials shall 
be removed and disposed of at an upland site, the sedimentation barrier shall then be removed 
in its entirety and the area restored to its original configuration and cover.

2. All raw areas in uplands resulting from the permitted construction activity shall be effectively 
stabilized with sod and/or seed and mulch (or other technology specified by this permit or 
project plans) in a sufficient quantity and manner to prevent erosion and any potential siltation 
to surface waters or wetlands.  Temporary stabilization measures shall be installed before or 
upon commencement of the permitted activity and shall be maintained until permanent 
measures are in place.  Permanent measures shall be in place within five (5) days of achieving 
final grade.

3. Upon completion of the project, all temporarily disturbed wetland areas shall be restored to the 
original contour elevation, revegetated and reseeded with species native to Michigan 
appropriate to the site as indicated in the attached approved plans, and mulched to prevent 
erosion. 

4. Submit to this office within 60 days of project completion “as-built” plans, signed and sealed by 
a qualified design professional licensed by the State of Michigan, certifying that the project, 
including any required compensating cut and fill, has been completed in accordance with this 
permit.

5. All fill/backfill shall consist of clean inert material that will not cause siltation nor contain soluble 
chemicals, organic matter, pollutants, or contaminants.  All fill shall be contained in such a 
manner so as not to erode into any surface water, floodplain, or wetland.  All raw areas 
associated with the permitted activity shall be stabilized with sod and/or seed and mulch, 
riprap, or other technically effective methods as necessary to prevent erosion.

6. All fill shall consist of clean, washed rock or stone that is free of fines, other soil materials, any 
contaminants, or pollutants.

7. If the project, or any portion of the project, is stopped and lies incomplete for any length of time 
other than that encountered in a normal work week, every precaution shall be taken to protect 
the incomplete work from erosion, including the placement of temporary gravel bag riprap, 
temporary seed and mulch, or other acceptable temporary protection.

8. No work shall be done in the stream during periods of above-normal flows except as 
necessary to prevent erosion.

9. Road fill side slopes shall associated with the culvert not be steeper than 1-on-2 (1 vertical to 2 
horizontal) except where headwalls of reinforced concrete, mortar masonry, dry masonry, or 
other acceptable methods are used.

10.Under Appendix G of the Michigan Building Code 2009, a local building permit is required for 
development located in flood hazard areas.



City of Auburn Hills, Attn: Steve Baldante 6 WRP047478 v.1

11.The project is located within a community that participates in the National Flood Insurance 
Program (NFIP).  As a participant in the NFIP, the community must comply with the Michigan 
Building Code (including Appendix G and listed supporting materials); the Michigan Residential 
Code; and Title 44 of the Code of Federal Regulations, Part 60, Criteria for Land Management 
and Use.  The community is also responsible to ensure that its floodplain maps and studies are 
maintained to show changes to flood elevations and flood delineations as described in 44 
CFR, Part 65, Identification and Mapping of Special Hazard Areas.  

12.Authority granted by this permit does not waive permit or program requirements under Part 91 
of the NREPA or the need to acquire applicable permits from the CEA.  To locate the Soil 
Erosion Program Administrator for your county, visit 
https://www.michigan.gov/egle/about/organization/water-resources/soil-erosion/sesc-overview 
and select “Soil Erosion and Sedimentation Control Agencies”.

13.The authority to conduct the activity as authorized by this permit is granted solely under the 
provisions of the governing act as identified above.  This permit does not convey, provide, or 
otherwise imply approval of any other governing act, ordinance, or regulation, nor does it waive 
the permittee's obligation to acquire any local, county, state, or federal approval or 
authorization necessary to conduct the activity.

14.No fill, excess soil, or other material shall be placed in any wetland, floodplain, or surface water 
area not specifically authorized by this permit, its plans, and specifications.

15.This permit does not authorize or sanction work that has been completed in violation of 
applicable federal, state, or local statutes.

16.The permit placard shall be kept posted at the work site in a prominent location at all times for 
the duration of the project or until permit expiration.

17.This permit is being issued for the maximum time allowed and no extensions of this permit will 
be granted.  Initiation of the construction work authorized by this permit indicates the 
permittee's acceptance of this condition.  The permit, when signed by EGLE, will be for a five-
year period beginning on the date of issuance.  If the project is not completed by the expiration 
date, a new permit must be sought.

18.All work shall be in accordance with the attached approved plans and the specific terms and 
conditions of this permit. 

https://www.michigan.gov/egle/about/organization/water-resources/soil-erosion/sesc-overview


City of Auburn Hills, Attn: Steve Baldante 7 WRP047478 v.1

Upon signing by the permittee named herein, this permit must be returned to EGLE's Water 
Resources Division, Warren District Office, for final execution.  This permit shall become 
effective on the date of the EGLE representative's signature.  

Permittee hereby accepts and agrees to comply with the terms and conditions of this permit.

X
_____________________________________________________________________

            Permittee Date

X
_____________________________________________________________________

            Printed Name and Title of Permittee

Issued By:
Robert Primeau
Warren District Office
Water Resources Division
586-256-7274

cc: Pat Durack, EGLE
Cleyo Harris, DNR Fisheries
Auburn Hills City Clerk
Oakland County Water Resources Commission - CEA
Oakland County
Hannah Driesenga, OHM Advisors
Abby Boger, OHM Advisors
Nick Nelson, OHM Advisors
Adam Rychwalski, OHM Advisors



NE1749-11P Berlin Mitigation Bank - WRP047478 v.1 Page 1 of 4 11/14/25(rev 12-24-25) 

WETLAND MITIGATION CREDIT SALES AGREEMENT 

This AGREEMENT made is by and between 72nd Ave Farm, LLC (“Banker”) and City 

of Auburn Hills (“Buyer”).  

WHEREAS the Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy 

(“EGLE”) has adopted a methodology for the establishment and operation of wetland mitigation 

banks including the sale of wetland mitigation credits, as set forth in the EGLE Wetland 

Mitigation Banking Handbook (“State Guidance”) and in the Rules for the Establishment, Use, 

and Operation of Mitigation Banks  promulgated under Part 303 Wetland Protection of the 

Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act, 1994 PA 451, as amended: (“Part 303 

Rules”); and 

WHEREAS, Part 303 provides in part for the issuance of Part 303 permits (that may 

require wetland mitigation), for the creation, operation, and certification of wetland mitigation 

banks, for the authorization of the use of wetland mitigation banks and the sale and purchase of 

wetland mitigation credits offered by certified mitigation banks to qualifying Part 303 

permittees; and 

WHEREAS, on May 21, 2024, Banker entered into a Wetland Mitigation Banking 

Agreement with EGLE (the “Banking Agreement”), has created the Bank in compliance with the 

Part 303 Rules and the Banking Agreement, and has received certification from EGLE for the 

Bank in accordance with the Part 303 Rules and the Banking Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, the Berlin Mitigation Bank (“Bank”) is located in the Clinton River 

Mitigation Banking Watershed and the Sandusky Lake Plain (VI.5.1) Ecoregion; and 

WHEREAS, Buyer wishes to purchase from Banker wetland mitigation credits presently 

available from Bank and listed below (“Credits”) in accordance with the terms of this Agreement 

in order to meet the mitigation requirements of its Part 303 Permit, in full or in part, as set forth 

in Part 303 file number: EGLE # WRP047478 v.1 (Auburn Hills CM), which required the 

purchase of 0.26 acres of emergent and 0.28 acres of forested wetland credits from a mitigation 

bank in the Clinton River Watershed. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutually binding covenants herein of the 

parties and in reliance on the foregoing representations by the Banker, it is agreed as follows: 

1. Banker has successfully constructed and is and will continue to be solely responsible

for all management and monitoring of the Bank as required by the Banking

Agreement and Part 303 Banking Rules.



NE1749-11P Berlin Mitigation Bank - WRP047478 v.1 Page 2 of 4  11/14/25(rev 12-24-25) 

 

2. Banker agrees to sell and Buyer agrees to purchase the following Credits: 

0.54 acres of forested wetland credits 

  0.54 acres total 

 

for the Purchase Price of $150,000.00/acre for scrub-shrub and forested wetland 

credits, for a Total Purchase Price of Eighty-One Thousand Dollars and No Cents 

($81,000.00) (“Total Purchase Price”).  This Agreement constitutes an irrevocable 

commitment by Buyer to purchase and an irrevocable commitment by Banker to sell 

the Credits and to manage and monitor the Bank in accordance with the Banking 

Agreement and Part 303 Banking Rules. 

3. Transfer of the Credits to Buyer and payment of the Purchase Price to Banker shall 

occur no later than June 30, 2026.  

4. Banker may convey, assign or transfer the Bank property and/or long-term 

management of the Bank with approval of the EGLE and execution of transfer 

agreements approved by the EGLE. 

5. Buyer’s rights and obligations under this Agreement shall not be assigned, 

transferred, pledged, encumbered or in any way restricted without the prior written 

consent of Banker (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed), and, if 

required under any applicable rules, regulations and policies, without prior written 

approval of the EGLE. 

6. All notices to the parties pursuant to this Agreement shall be personally delivered or 

sent by certified mail, return receipt requested, to the following address: 

If to Banker: 72nd Ave Farm, LLC 

  Attn: Steve Niswander 
  8953 Deer Trail 
  Brighton, MI 48114 
 

 If to Buyer:   City of Auburn Hills 

   Attn: Steve Baldante 
   1827 N Squirrel Road 
   Auburn Hills, MI 48326 
 

Notice sent by certified mail shall be effective on the third business day following the date of 
mailing. The parties may change the address to which notice must be sent under this Agreement 
by written notice to the other party. 
 



NE1749-11P Berlin Mitigation Bank - WRP047478 v.1 Page 3 of 4  11/14/25(rev 12-24-25) 

7. (A) Buyer shall be solely responsible for determining whether the Bank’s Credits will 

be suitable for the Buyer’s purpose, and except as set forth in Paragraph 7(B), neither 

the Bank nor the Banker represent or warrant in any way the suitability of the Credits 

to fulfill the Buyer’s obligation and/or its Part 303 Permit conditions.   

(B) Banker warrants and represents to Buyer that: i) Bank has been duly certified by 

the EGLE in accordance with Part 303 Rules and the corresponding Banking 

Agreement and will continue to be so certified; ii) Bank is in full compliance with the 

Part 303 Rules and Banking Agreement; iii) at the time of payment for the Credits 

that are the subject of this Agreement, they have been released by EGLE and are 

currently available for sale; and iv) Banker hereby has full right and title to the 

Credits and v) that Steven Niswander, executing the transfer on behalf of Banker, has 

authority to sell same to Buyer on behalf of Banker.   

8. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties and their 

respective successors, representatives and permitted assigns. The parties have 

reviewed this Agreement and have had the opportunity to have their respective legal 

counsel review the same.  The drafting of this Agreement shall be deemed to have 

been mutual by the parties.  The parties agree that the laws of Michigan control the 

interpretation of this Agreement, and that venue is proper in Livingston County 

Circuit Court. Buyer is specifically entitled to the remedy of specific performance if 

Banker breaches this Agreement to transfer or buy back the Credits. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the day and 
year first written above. 

BANKER 
 
 
__________________________________ 
72nd Ave Farm, LLC 
By:  Steven F. Niswander, Member 
 
Dated:____ _______________________ 
 

BUYER 
 
 
____________________________________  
By: ____________________ 
Its: ______________ 
Dated:_______________________________ 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
  
  
  

 



NE1749-11P Berlin Mitigation Bank - WRP047478 v.1 Page 4 of 4  11/14/25(rev 12-24-25) 

 

FORM OF BILL OF SALE 

TO: City of Auburn Hills 

 Attn: Steve Baldante 
 1827 N Squirrel Road 
 Auburn Hills, MI 48326 
 
FROM:   72nd Ave Farm, LLC 

 Attn: Steve Niswander 
 8953 Deer Trail 
 Brighton, MI 48114 
 

DATE:          

 

Subject to the terms and conditions of that certain Wetland Mitigation Credit Sales Agreement, 

dated between Buyer and Seller, and for the consideration of the sum of for the Purchase Price of 

$150,000.00/acre for forested wetland credits for a Total Purchase Price of Eighty-One Thousand 

Dollars and No Cents ($81,000.00) (“Total Purchase Price”), receipt of which is hereby 

acknowledged, Seller hereby sells 0.54 acres of forested wetland credits located in the Berlin 

Mitigation Bank to Buyer. 

 

 

 
       
72nd Ave Farm, LLC 
By:  Steven F. Niswander 
 
 
 



Finding solutions in a complex world 

9436 Maltby Road 

Brighton, MI  48116 

810.225.0539 office 

810.225.0653  fax  

www.niswander-env.com 

_____________, 2026 

Mr. Michael Pennington 
Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy 

525 West Allegan St. 
Constitution Hall 4th Floor 
Lansing, MI  48933 

Subject: NE 1749-11P Berlin Mitigation Bank (Clinton River Watershed, Sandusky Lake Plain Ecoregion 

(VI.5.1)) 

EGLE # WRP047478 v.1 (Auburn Hills CM) 

0.54-acres Credits Sold – Tracking Ledger and Sales Ledger 

Dear Mr. Pennington: 

On behalf of Berlin Mitigation Bank (72nd Ave Farm, LLC), Niswander Environmental is pleased to submit 
this letter. 

This letter certifies that the City of Auburn Hills has purchased 0.54 acres of forested wetland credits 

from the Berlin Mitigation Bank to partially meet the permit requirements of EGLE # WRP047478 

v.1 (Auburn Hills CM).  The Permit required the purchase of 0.26 acres of emergent and 0.28 acres

of forested wetland credits from a mitigation bank in the Clinton River Watershed.

A copy of the Berlin Mitigation Bank Credit Tracking Ledger and Sales Ledger are attached. 

Please feel free to contact me at 810-986-0218 if there are any questions or concerns.  I look forward to 
continuing our work with you on this project.   

Sincerely, 

Steven Niswander, Ph.D. 
Senior Professional Wetland Scientist #1276 

Attachments:  Berlin Mitigation Bank Credit Tracking Ledger and Sales Ledger 

cc: Robert Primeau, EGLE without attachment (e-copy) 
Andy Hartz, EGLE, without attachment (e-copy) 
Steve Baldante, City of Auburn Hills, without attachment (e-copy) 
Abby Boger, OHM, without attachment (e-copy) 



MEETING DATE: JANUARY 19, 2026 AGENDA ITEM NO 7C 

CITY MANAGER’S OFFICE 

To: Mayor and City Council 
From: Thomas A. Tanghe, City Manager; Brandon Skopek, Assistant City Manager; Norm Green, 

IT Manager 
Submitted: January 8, 2026 
Subject: Motion – To authorize the purchase of an annual VMware licensing & support 

subscription. 

INTRODUCTION AND HISTORY 
Funds are budgeted in FY2026 for the annual renewal of our existing licensing and support agreement with VMware. 
VMware is a product that allows multiple virtual servers to run on one or more physical servers owned and operated 
by the City. This product consolidates all the IT resources of the physical server hardware and shares those resources 
among our virtual servers.    

The City acquires this product through CDW, which is a member of the cooperative purchasing consortium, MiDeal. 
CDW is a leading multi-brand provider of information technology solutions to business, government, education and 
healthcare customers in the United States, the United Kingdom and Canada. Because CDW is part of a cooperative 
purchasing consortium and prices have already been competitively bid, an invitation to bid is not necessary under 
the City’s purchasing policy. This annual expense has not typically exceeded the administrative approval threshold; 
however, this year’s annual renewal comes to $58,707.20, which is well above the threshold. This price increase is 
due to Broadcom’s acquisition of VMware and a change to the annual licensing and support model from a perpetual 
license to a subscription-based model. While the IT Department had planned for this situation and had budgeted 
for this in 2026, the increase was far more substantial than anticipated. $31,000 was budgeted for this expense in 
2026. City servers are due for replacement in 2026 and at that time, IT Department staff will be working to find a 
licensing alternative for 2027 and beyond. There is no VMware alternative for the City’s current servers.    

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommend approval of the purchase of an annual VMware licensing and support subscription from CDW 
under MiDeal contract no. 071B6600110. Staff further recommend a budget amendment to increase appropriations 
in the 2026 General Fund MIS Department budget (GL # 101-228-934.000) by $27,708 in support of this purchase. 

MOTION 
Move to approve the purchase of an annual VMware license and support subscription from CDW Government, 
75 Remittance Drive, Suite 1515, Chicago, IL under MiDeal contract number 071B6600110. Total costs shall not 
exceed $58,707.20. Further, authorize a budget amendment to increase appropriations in the 2026 General Fund 
MIS Department budget by $27,708. 

I CONCUR: 

THOMAS A. TANGHE, CITY MANAGER 



Hardware Software Services IT Solutions Brands Research Hub

QUOTE CONFIRMATION

Thank you for choosing CDW. We have received your quote.

NORM GREEN,

Thank you for considering CDW•G for your technology needs. The details of your quote are below. If 

you are an eProcurement or single sign on customer, please log into your system to access 

the CDW site. You can search for your quote to retrieve and transfer back into your system for 

processing.

For all other customers, click below to convert your quote to an order.

Convert Quote to Order 

QUOTE # QUOTE DATE QUOTE REFERENCE

CUSTOMER # GRAND TOTAL

PRXT234 12/11/2025 VMW CLD FNDTN 1YR 6399385 $58,707.20

QUOTE DETAILS

ITEM QTY CDW# UNIT PRICE EXT. PRICE

VMW CLD FNDTN 160 8566362 $366.92 $58,707.20

Mfg. Part#: VCF-CLD-FND-A

VMware Cloud Foundation

01/25/2026 01/24/2027

Electronic distribution - NO MEDIA

Contract: Michigan Master Computing-MiDEAL (071B6600110)

SUBTOTAL

$58,707.20

SHIPPING

$0.00

SALES TAX

$0.00

GRAND TOTAL

$58,707.20 

PURCHASER BILLING INFO DELIVER TO

Billing Address:

CITY OF AUBURN HILLS

ATTN: IT DEPART

1827 N SQUIRREL RD

AUBURN HILLS, MI 48326-2753

Phone: (248) 370-9400

Payment Terms: Net 30 Days-Govt State/Local

Shipping Address:

CITY OF AUBURN HILLS

ATTN: IT DEPART

1827 N SQUIRREL RD

AUBURN HILLS, MI 48326-2753

Phone: (248) 370-9400

Shipping Method: ELECTRONIC DISTRIBUTION

Please remit payments to:

CDW Government

75 Remittance Drive

Suite 1515

Chicago, IL 60675-1515

Sales Contact Info 

Dave Engmark   |  800.808.4239 | davieng@cdwg.com

https://www.cdwg.com/content/cdwg/en/terms-conditions/site-map.html
https://www.cdwg.com/content/cdwg/en/software.html
https://www.cdwg.com/content/cdwg/en/services/amplified-services.html
https://www.cdwg.com/content/cdwg/en/solutions.html
https://www.cdwg.com/content/cdwg/en/brand.html
https://www.cdwg.com/content/cdwg/en/research-hub.html
http://www.cdwg.com/shop/quotes/QuoteDetails.aspx?qn=PRXT234
http://www.cdwg.com/shop/products/default.aspx?EDC=8566362


Page 2 of 2

Need Help?

My Account Support

Call 800.800.4239

About Us | Privacy Policy | Terms and Conditions 

This order is subject to CDW's Terms and Conditions of Sales and Service Projects at

http://www.cdwg.com/content/terms-conditions/product-sales.aspx

For more information, contact a CDW account manager.

VMWare

Your use of the VMware by Broadcom offerings identified within this order are subject to (a) the standard end user agreement at 

https://www.vmware.com/agreements.html, (b) the Specific Program Documentation (the “SPD”), and/or SaaS Listing applicable to the 

VMware by Broadcom offerings and Maintenance located at https://www.broadcom.com/licensing and (c) the additional terms within this order 

(collectively, the ”End User Terms”). Any terms that may appear on your purchase order that vary from or purport to add to the End User 

Terms (including, without limitation, pre-printed terms) are deemed not appended, inapplicable and void.

© 2026 CDW•G LLC, 200 N. Milwaukee Avenue, Vernon Hills, IL 60061 | 800.808.4239

https://www.cdwg.com/accountcenter/logon
https://www.cdwg.com/content/cdwg/en/help-center.html
https://www.cdwg.com/content/cdwg/en/about/overview.html
https://www.cdwg.com/content/cdwg/en/terms-conditions/privacy-notice.html
https://www.cdwg.com/content/cdwg/en/terms-conditions.html
http://www.cdwg.com/content/terms-conditions/product-sales.aspx


MEETING DATE:  JANUARY 19, 2026 AGENDA ITEM NO 7D 

ASSESSING 

To: Mayor and City Council 
From: Thomas A. Tanghe, City Manager; Bill Griffin, Assessor 
Submitted: January 12, 2026 
Subject: Motion – Amend the General Fund Assessing Budget 

INTRODUCTION AND HISTORY 
Costs were not anticipated at the beginning of 2025 to purchase new scanners for the assessing office.  The scanners 
will be used to attach documents such as Property Transfers, Principal Residence Exemptions, Rescinds, Veterans 
Exemptions and Personal Property Statements to the related parcel in BSA.   These new scanners allow direct 
scanning into BSA versus copier feature that scans into a folder that has to be individually copied into parcel.    

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Recommend an increase to the General Fund Assessing Budget in line 101-257-799.000 equipment over 
$5,000. 

MOTION 
Move to amend the General Fund Assessing department budget increasing appropriations $1,200. 

I CONCUR: 

THOMAS A. TANGHE, CITY MANAGER 



MEETING DATE:  JANUARY 19, 2026 AGENDA ITEM NO 7E 

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 

To: Mayor and City Council 
From: Thomas A. Tanghe, City Manager; Jason Deman, Manager of Public Utilities 
Submitted: January 8, 2026 
Subject: Motion –  To Approve the Purchase of 139 Water Meters for the Meter Maintenance 

Program and New Builds 

INTRODUCTION AND HISTORY 
Keeping water meters working and functioning properly remains one of the top priorities of the Public Utility 
Division.  Measuring water usage accurately makes sure that the proper revenue can come into the Division, thus 
supporting the continual maintenance that is needed with our system(s).  In 2026 we will continue to focus on larger 
meters, which are of course more expensive but also help measure our top users of the system. 

We aim to keep our Commercial meters up to date using the American Water Works Association (AWWA) standard, 
which uses a rough 20-year timeline for replacement.  The meters that are targeted meet these criteria, so we are 
moving forward with the planned replacements.  Also adding to the meter need is the continued development of 
the City.  Woodland Villas off Bald Mountain is starting to build homes this year, which will add strain on the smaller 
meter stock as well. 

The Public Utility Division is still utilizing Kamstrup water meters for most commercial accounts, which we have 
been using since 2020.  Although they are slightly pricier than alternatives, we are very happy with the construction 
and performance of these meters so far.  For smaller residential meters we utilize Neptune water meters, which 
still produce and make analog water meters, which we feel is better suited in our residential homes.   

This large order of 139 water meters should help with roughly 2/3 to 3/4 of the needs for 2026.  The rest of the 
meters will be purchased as needed and later throughout the year.  Large changes in lead times also drive the 
decision to get a large order in place, as it has taken upwards of 6-10 months to receive certain size or certain brand 
meters.  The water meters are currently purchased through two different sole service providers for this area.  
Kamstrup water meters are represented by Everett J Prescott (EJP), while Neptune water meters are represented 
by Ferguson Enterprises.  We are happy to report that EJP’s is holding their pricing on Kamstrup meters from 2025, 
and the quote for the meters is Attachment 1.  Ferguson Enterprises allows us to piggyback off an Oakland County 
bid that was negotiated between Ferguson and the County in late 2024.  This pricing is available with this memo as 
Attachment 2.   

Although both suppliers are holding their pricing as of now, they have instituted a steel tariff surcharge to our orders 
since the US Government decision to levy these tariffs in June of 2025.  We have been paying an average surcharge 
of 5% on meter orders since.  Since the surcharge percentage varies from order to order, it is NOT included in the 
total cost approximations in the attachments, but staff wanted to make council aware of these forthcoming charges. 
The base total of 139 meters to be ordered between both vendors equals $106,322.24 and is depicted with 
Attachment 3. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
In keeping on track with planned replacements, new installs, and trying to avoid getting behind with long lead times, 
Staff recommend approval of this large purchase of water meters.  These purchases will be through EJP  



Page 2 

and Ferguson Enterprises, and totals $106,322.24.  The purchase(s) have sufficient budget available in GL 
592.536.770.000. 

MOTION 
Move to Approve the Purchase of 139 Water Meters from Everett J Prescott and Feguson Enterprises in the 
Amount of $106,322.24 

CITY MANAGER’S NOTE:  There is no affiliation between Councilman Jack Ferguson and Ferguson Enterprises 
referenced in this memo. 

ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment 1 – EJP meter pricing 
Attachment 2 – Ferguson Enterprises pricing 
Attachment 2 – Auburn Hills total order between both vendors 

I CONCUR: 

THOMAS A. TANGHE, CITY MANAGER 



End User:

Attention: Sales Rep:

Phone: Phone:

Email: Email:

Group 1:

Ref # Quantity Unit Price

1 1 $930.00 

3 1 $1,248.00 

4 1 $956.00 

5 1 $1,505.00 

6 1 $1,800.00 

7 1 $12.00 

4 1 $150.00 

1 $180.00 

1 $350.00 

5

6

7

8

9

10

Group 1 Subtotal:

To accept this quotation, sign/date here and return:

3/4"X 9" 2200 ENCODED COMPOSITE METER

1" SS 3200 ENCODED METER

FLYING LEAD 6FT PER EACH METER

5/8X 3/4 2200 ENCODED COMPOSITE METER

2" SS 3200 CF FLANGED METER 17"LL

3" SS 3200 CF FLANGED METER

4" SS 3200 CF FLANGED METER

Small and Large Meters

Part # Description

1-1/2" SS 3200 CF FLANGED METER

2" SS 3200 CF FLANGED METER 15-1/4"LL

Comments and considerations
Should you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact James Graves.

Quote line items

Address: Address: 7980 Center Point 70 Blvd

Huber Heights

Ohio 45424

1500 Brown Road 947 955-5841

Auburn Hills, MI 48326 james.graves@ejprescott.com

Prepared for

City of Auburn Hills MI

Jason Deman James Graves

Created Date: 10/22/2024

Expiration Date: 90 Days















































































Description Item Qty Unit price Total
5/8"x3/4" x 7.5" 2200 CF (Composite) 3/4" meter 6 150.00$          900.00$          
2" x 15.25" 3200 CF FLANGED METER 2" meter 50 1,248.00$       62,400.00$     

3" x 12" 3200 CF FLANGED METER 3" meter 14 1,505.00$       21,070.00$     
10" SS 4200 FLANGED meter 10" meter 1 7,145.00$       7,145.00$       

Flying Leads 71 12.00$             852.00$          
92,367.00$     

Description Item Qty Unit price Total
5/8"x3/4" Disc Meter Procoder 3/4" meter 20 128.60$          2,572.00$       

5/8"x3/4" Disc Meter Procoder (Pit) 3/4" WP meter 20 140.65$          2,813.00$       
1" Disc Meter Procoder 1" meter 24 254.12$          6,098.88$       

1.5" T-10 Meter Flange ProCoder 1.5" meter 4 617.84$          2,471.36$       
13,955.24$     

106,322.24$  

EJP Total

EJP

Ferguson Enterprises

Ferguson Total

City Total Order



MEETING DATE:  JANUARY 19, 2026 AGENDA ITEM NO 7F 

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 

To: Mayor and City Council 
From: Thomas A. Tanghe, City Manager; Jason Hefner, Manager of Fleet & Roads 
Submitted: January 13, 2026 
Subject: Motion – Approve the Upfit of a 2026 Ford Cab & Chassis 

INTRODUCTION AND HISTORY 
Budgeted in the 2026 Fleet vehicle budget is $150,000 for the replacement of a 2018 RAM 5500 Dump truck. In 
January 2025, City council approved the purchase of a pick-up truck to replace one that the DPW’s grounds division 
utilizes to salt parking lots during the winter. The old truck has a slide-in salt box in the bed and has seen excessive 
rust because of all the salt that spills beside it over time. Because of this excessive rust and the fact that the truck 
cannot haul anything else in the winter because of the difficulty of removing and replacing the salt box, staff 
explored replacing this 5500 dump with a Ford 600 swaploader. The swaploader upfit will allow for the dump body 
mounted to the chassis to be removed and replaced with a different body without leaving the cab of the truck. 
Proposed for this upfit is a Swaploader hooklift hoist (The mechanism that allows for the swap), with two 
attachments; a stainless steel dump body and a stainless steel salt body (attachments 3 and 4 will not be purchased). 
The DPW currently operates three swaploaders with great success. 

As City Council may recall, in 2013 the Auburn Hills DPW along with eight other communities formed a purchasing 
consortium to build municipal trucks. Since that time the number of member communities has risen to 60. The City 
of Rochester Hills served as lead agency and RFP-RH-13-030 was awarded to Freightliner Trucks and Truck & Trailer 
Specialties in November 2013. The consortium purchasing bid has been highly successful with over 300 trucks and 
bodies purchased by Southeastern Michigan municipalities over the past four years. In 2020, Rochester Hills re-bid 
the purchase of municipal trucks RFP-RH-20-023 and it was awarded to Freightliner Trucks and Truck & Trailer 
Specialties. 

The 2026 Ford Cab & Chassis was approved by council last month at a cost of $71,605. Therefore, there is $78,395 
remaining of that budgeted amount. The Ford 600 Cab & Chassis upfit will be completed under the Rochester Hills 
consortium purchasing bid RFP-RH-20-023 by Truck & Trailer Specialties of Howell, MI for the cost of $126,125.00. 
staff recommends a budget amendment of $47,730.00 to the fleet vehicle budget (661-594-981.000) to cover the 
additional expense. We have used cooperative bids throughout the years to purchase a variety of items that include 
vehicles, equipment, and road salt. The cooperative bids that are used most often are the State of Michigan MiDEAL, 
the Oakland County Cooperative, Sourcewell, and the Rochester Hills Consortium. These cooperative bids are based 
on larger volumes which result in lower prices, a high-quality contract, and meet the spirit of the Purchasing 
Ordinance. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends amending the fleet vehicle account (661-594-981.000) by $47,730.00 and approving the 
purchase of the Ford 600 Cab & Chassis upfit by Truck & Trailer Specialties, Inc. of Howell, Michigan through the 
Rochester Hills contract RFP-RH-20-023 in the amount of $126,125.00.  Funding for the purchase will be made 
available via account number 661-594-981.000. 



Page 2 
 
 
MOTION 
Move to amend the fleet vehicle account by $47,730.00 and approve the purchase of the Ford 600 Cab & Chassis 
upfit by Truck & Trailer Specialties, Inc. of Howell, Michigan through the Rochester Hills contract RFP-RH-20-023 
in the amount of $126,125.00. 
 
EXHIBIT 
Exhibit 1 – Quote 
 

I CONCUR: 

 
 THOMAS A. TANGHE, CITY MANAGER 

 



900 Grand Oaks Drive | Howell, MI 48843 | www.ttspec.com | ph: (517) 552-3855 | fx: (517) 552-3666 

1 

December 29, 2025 

City of Auburn Hills 
1500 Brown Road, Auburn Hills, MI 48326 
Attn: Jason Hefner, ph: (248) 520-1164 
HQO005678 

Equipment Quotation 

The following pricing will be based on City of Rochester Hills RFP-RH-20-023 contract awarded September 2020 

Chassis information: 
2026 Ford F600 XL, 84” CA, Reg Cab, DRW, 4x4, 22,000# GVWR, diesel engine including PTO provision, plow prep, 
brake controller, back-up alarm, rearview camera & upfitter switches 

Install  SwapLoader hooklift hoist model SL-105 including the following: 
Compatible for 84” CA 
Dump capacity 10,500 lbs. 
Hook height to bottom of pin 36” 

Install  Hydraulic system to operate SwapLoader hooklift including the following: 
Chelsea F20F1312GX5BAPB hotshift power take-off with direct-mounted pump, 1.86 CID assembly 
Muncie overspeed controller so pump does not exceed maximum RPMs 
30-gallon side-mounted stainless-steel tank including:

Return line oil filter and shut-off valve 
Low-oil shutdown sensor 
Tank filled with AW-32 hydraulic oil 

Rexroth 4m4-12 12-volt actuated valve with unloader lateral inlet (3,250 PSI) including: 
DA on/off motorspooled for Hoist (15 GPM) 
DA on/off cylinder-spooled for Jib (10 GPM) 
SA EPC with 2,000 PSI B- Port load-sense relief for Spinner (8 GPM) 
SA EPC with 2,000 PSI B- Port load-sense relief for Auger (15 GPM) 
Four (4) 15’ valve extension cables 

Stainless steel 16” valve enclosure mounted on frame 
All necessary hoses and fittings 
Stainless steel couplings mounted behind cab for spreader circuits 

Install  Rexroth model CS620 Electric Spreader Controller including the following: 
Open-loop operation available for spreader operations 
Programmable blast & pause 
All necessary wiring for valves 

Install  Custom Lighting & Electrical including the following: 
Two (2) SoundOff mPower (mo. EMPS2STS4F) amber/white flashers in chassis grille (separate switch) 
One (1) SoundOff Pinnacle (mo. EPL730001-F) amber/white mini lightbar on cab 3rd brake light bracket 
Install stainless steel three-hole lightboxes mounted at the rear for the following lights: 

Two (2) SoundOff LED backup lights 
Two (2) SoundOff LED stop/turn taillights with ¾” marker lights mounted on ends 
Two (2) SoundOff nForce (mo. ENFSRV3F) amber/white flashers 

Two (2) Maxxima 4” LED work lights mounted rear-facing on light boxes 
LED 3-light cluster mounted in center portion of truck 



 
900 Grand Oaks Drive | Howell, MI 48843 | www.ttspec.com | ph: (517) 552-3855 | fx: (517) 552-3666 

 

2 
 

OEM switches will be used for the following: 
Front flashers 
Rear flashers 
Rear work lights 

Indicator lights mounted in spreader controller stand include the following: 
Low-oil light 
Body-up light, with proximity switch mounted on SwapLoader frame 
PTO light 

InPower 8-pack switch console includes the following: 
PTO 
Hoist-up 
Hoist-down 
Jib-in 
Jib-out  
Low-oil override 
V-box Vibrator 

Program Hoist/Jib shutdown to prevent accidental hoist-up or jib-out with specified attachments 
Betts Dri-box junction box at the rear 
Electrical 7-way RV disconnect for flasher, stop/turn/tail, and hoist/jib disconnect functions mounted on 
coupler mount located behind cab 
Electrical 7-way round disconnect for attachments and lighting located rear of truck street side 
Install City-supplied CB radio 

Install Underbed Toolbox including the following: 
Bawer (mo. TU823000) 36” wide x 24” deep x 18” high 
Polished stainless construction toolbox, frame-mounted on curbside 
Patented lockable T-handle, gas-shock door openers & rubber gasket seal 
4” channel type brackets 

Install Steel Rear Hitch Plate including the following: 
¾” hitch plate reinforced with ½” side plates with a 6” channeled ICC bumper  
2-1/2” receiver tube with Class 5, 2-5/16” Pintle/Ball combination hitch  
Two (2) ¾” D-rings for safety chains  
7-way RV flat pin plug 
Electric brake controller (to come with chassis) 
Remount backup alarm (to come with chassis) 
Remount OEM camera at rear, mounted in center above hitch for trailer hook-up (to come with chassis) 

Install Western 9’6” MVP3 Red Steel V-plow including the following: 
Snow deflector, cast-iron shoes, blade guides, curbguards on each end and loose hand-held controller 
Receiver kit & UltraMount2 system 

Install WeatherTech Floor Liners for Regular Cab (mo. 4410541V) 
Install 19.5” Poly Fender Kit with stainless steel mounting hardware  
 
Above chassis-installed equipment pricing:  $64,420.00 ea. 
 
 
HQO005680 
Base Attachment #1 
Install  Crysteel 10’ S-Tipper Stainless Steel Dump Body including the following: 

Attachment mounted to skid assembly for SwapLoader SL-105 (36” loop height) 
Subframe and bottom of dump body, painted Black 



 
900 Grand Oaks Drive | Howell, MI 48843 | www.ttspec.com | ph: (517) 552-3855 | fx: (517) 552-3666 

 

3 
 

Rear heavy-duty steel drum wheels, painted Black 
120” length, 87” inside width and 96” outside width (4 cubic yards water level) 
18” side height and a 24” tailgate 
Front and tailgate constructed with 10-gauge stainless steel, unpainted 
Sides constructed with 12-gauge stainless steel, unpainted 
Fold-down sides with chain holders 
Boxed top rail 
Includes ¼ straight integral cabshield 
No flame-cut window 
3/16” AR450 floor construction 
Crossmemberless design 
Single 6” oval cut-outs in each rear square pillar posts for STT lights 
No 3-light cluster in rear rub rail 
3-panel tailgate construction with quick-drop handle design 
Install two (2) stainless steel spring-paddle shovel holders, one each side of dump 

Install  Custom Lighting & Electrical including the following: 
Two (2) SoundOff mPower (mo. EMPS2STS4F) amber/white flashers at top of rear pillar, one each side 
Two (2) SoundOff 6” oval LED STT in bottom cut-out of rear pillar, one each side 

Install  Roll-Rite manually-operated semi-automatic tarp system including a mesh-type tarp on dump 
Base Attachment #1 installed pricing: $18,480.00 ea. 
 
HQO005681 
Base Attachment #2 
Install  Monroe 10’ MD-120-70-46 Single Auger V-box Spreader including the following: 

Attachment mounted to skid assembly for SwapLoader SL-105 (36” loop height) 
Install ½ poly between V-box and SwapLoader skid 
Galvanized subframe and galvanized drum roller kit at the rear 
Long 24-46” adjustable leg kit, allows unloading the V-box skid without tipping up the spinner 
12-gauge 201 stainless steel hopper (4.6 cubic yard capacity) 
Hopper length is 120”, hopper width is 70” and hopper height is 46” 
Stainless steel hopper and spinner construction, unpainted 
24 cubic inch 4-bolt hydraulic motor, 1” shaft, .875” ORB ports, front-mounted on body 
6” single auger with 4” pitch 
Tip-up spinner assembly with 20” poly spinner disc 
Stainless steel catwalks 
LDS-455 exhaust flow pre-wet system with NEMA enclosure 
Twin, 35-gallon liquid tanks (70-gallon total capacity) with stainless steel mounting 
Bulk fill and flusher kits 
Dual tank crossover hose kit, spray bar kit in auger trough 
Low-liquid switch kit for low-liquid shutdown 
3/8” top grates installed on the V-box, galvanized 
Inverted-V to prevent tunneling and side lift loops 
Install fold-down stainless-steel ladder, front of V-box on curbside 
Install Cougar vibrator (mo. TDC12-1100-2M) wire relay & switch in truck cab, install truckside disconnect 
by quick coupler, mount behind cab, program InPower 8-button switch pack 
Install 3-hole stainless steel lightboxes including: 

Two (2) each SoundOff nForce (mo. ENFSRV3F) amber/white flashers, STT & Backup lights 
Stainless steel pipe kit plumbed down the side of V-box to front with hydraulic disconnect couplers 
All necessary wiring extended from the front for disconnect  



 
900 Grand Oaks Drive | Howell, MI 48843 | www.ttspec.com | ph: (517) 552-3855 | fx: (517) 552-3666 

 

4 
 

Base Attachment #2 installed pricing: $43,225.00 ea. 
 
HQO005682 
Base Attachment #3 
Install  10’ Flatbed Body including the following: 

Attachment mounted to skid assembly for SwapLoader SL-105 (36” loop height) 
Steel drum rollers installed at the rear of the bed 
Flatbed deck is 10’ long, plus 18” beavertail; 11’6” total length 
Heavy-duty 3/16” stainless steel treadplate 96” wide deck (101” OD wide with rub rail) 
Deck built without crossmembers to keep deck height as low as possible 
5” low-slung profile with 5” hook-sled longsills 
3/16” x 4” side stake pockets and 3/8” x 2-½” outside rub rail constructed of stainless steel 
40” front bulkhead with slotted window constructed of 11-gauge stainless steel 
Understructure undercoat is painted Rubberized Paint Black 
Body is painted Gloss Black 

Install  Drop-in or Retractable 3-step ladder, stainless steel, curbside front of bed with bulkhead grab handle 
(mo. RS3SS) 

Base attachment #3 installed pricing: $16,960.00 ea. 
 
HQO005683 
Base Attachment #4 
Install Supreme 10’ Aluminum Van Body/Jobber Box including the following: 

Attachment mounted to skid assembly for SwapLoader SL-105 (36” loop height) 
SwapLoader skid will serve as longsills for body 
10’ (ID) L x 85” (ID) H x 96” (OD) W 
3” I-beam crossmembers on 12” centers 
1-1/8” laminated hardwood flat floor 
6.0 mm White Duraplate solid front wall 
Aluminum extruded front corners 
Wind deflector radius .063 mill aluminum 
White .040 alum sidewalls 
1-¼” sidewall Z-posts, 16” C/L 
½” plywood lining full sides 
Three (3) rows surface-mounted E-track on sidewalls: 16” from ceiling, 16” from floor & 3rd in between 
Two (2) rows recessed E-track in floor: 12” in from sidewalls running front to back 
.032 aluminum roof skin 
Lumidome roof vent 
Galvannealed rear door frame, 10-gauge one-piece V-grooved threshold 
Rear full open 2-panel doors 88” W x 79” H, barlock hardware 
Two (2) 12” aluminum grab handles 
Two (2) E-shoring beams installed near front of body 
Pass Mylar tape on side rails, one layer of Mylar tape at floor frame behind the rubrail 
SwapLoader 10’ skid assembly for model SL-105 includes front A-frame, longsills for body-mounting and 
rear heavy-duty mild steel roller drums 
Weld plate on for the back side of hook assembly to protect hook from hitting the front of the vanbody 
when loading on the truck. Add bump stop to van body to prevent body from shifting when on the truck   
Installation of rear rollers to minimize van body floor-to-ground height as best possible 
LED FMVSS 108 exterior lights with sealed wiring harness WP connector at streetside front of the body 

Install  Custom Lighting & Electrical including the following: 



 
900 Grand Oaks Drive | Howell, MI 48843 | www.ttspec.com | ph: (517) 552-3855 | fx: (517) 552-3666 

 

5 
 

Two (2) LED STT lights mounted one in each of the rear pillar posts of the body 
Eight (8) SoundOff mPower (mo. EMPS2STS4F) LED amber/white flashers mounted: 

Two (2) front-facing at the top corners 
Four (4) side-facing at the top corners, two (2) on each side 
Two (2) rear-facing at the rear header corners 

Install plug and wiring at the streetside front of the body 
Base Attachment #4 installed pricing: $27,365.00 ea. 
 
 
Payment Terms: Net 30. Pricing effective for 30 days. 

Pricing does not include any of the Rochester Hills RFQ discounts that may be applicable. 
2% discount off total taken at invoice if payment is received within 30 days. 

FOB:    City of Auburn Hills 
Delivery: 14-16 months ARO 
 
Thank you for the opportunity to quote. 
 
Respectfully submitted by, 
Jon Luea/Brian Bouwman 



MEETING DATE:  JANUARY 19, 2026 AGENDA ITEM NO 9A 

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 

To: Mayor and City Council 
From: Thomas A. Tanghe, City Manager; Jason Hefner, Manager of Fleet & Roads 
Submitted: January 13, 2026 
Subject: Motion – Approve Design Services for the 2026 Civic Campus Improvements 

INTRODUCTION AND HISTORY 
Included in the Department of Public Works Capital Improvement Plan in 2026 is the installation of a new municipal fueling 
island for use by City fleet vehicles, reconstruction of a portion of Seyburn Drive, rehabilitation of the Community Center and 
Library parking lots, and installation of a new water main loop along Seyburn to serve the new fuel island. Due to the time 
sensitive nature of all the components and the relationship that the City and OHM Advisors have, OHM began design without 
contract for the fuel island to meet necessary Planning Commission and City Council timelines so that construction could 
happen in 2026. Included in Exhibit 1 is the City Council agenda item 9a from September 17, 2025 that includes details of the 
Municipal Campus Fuel Island design and the Planning Commission’s recommendation of approval. While OHM has 
predesigned some of the Municipal Campus fuel island, there are additional details for the sitework that need to be completed 
in addition to adding the sections of parking lot and Seyburn Drive. A breakdown of these design services is provided below 
and total a not-to-exceed amount of $185,000. G2 Consulting will be utilized for material testing services in the design as well; 
their services are estimated at $15,000.  

Oscar W Larson (OWL) has been the City’s Underground Storage Tank Class A/B Operator’s for many years. They are responsible 
that the City meets all the requirements of the Federal and State Governing Authorities as it relates to fuel storage and 
dispensing. A portion of their services include design and installation of fuel islands (in essence, the box within the site). When 
it comes time for installation, all materials and equipment include a discount through OWL under a Sourcewell contract. For 
better understanding of the system from an installation and maintenance standpoint, staff recommend awarding the design 
contract to OWL as well. In earlier discussions, the City expressed a desire to match the existing architecture on the Municipal 
Campus with the new fuel island canopy and the service building that will be adjacent to it. With these two items having similar 
materials, OWL will design the service building as well. The cost for design of the Fuel Island is $36,875 while the service building 
design is $27,671.30 for a total OWL design cost of $64,546.30. 

Project Div GL OHM 
Advisors 

G2 
Consulting 

OWL Total 

Fuel Island 253-737-972.000 $  85,000.00 $  7,000.00 $ 64,546.30 $156,546.30 
Comm Ctr. PL 253-737-937.000 $  30,000.00 $  2,500.00 - $  32,500.00 
Library PL 253-737-937.000 $  20,000.00 $  1,500.00 - $  21,500.00 

Seyburn Dr Road 
253-737-995.203
203-453-973.000-
SEYBURNDRIVE

$  25,000.00 $  2,000.00 - $  27,000.00 

Seyburn WM 592-536-971.002 $  25,000.00 $  2,000.00 - $  27,000.00 
$185,000.00 $15,000.00 $ 64,546.30 $264,546.30 

Much of the funding needed for this project will come from TIFA-D. Due to the January 13th TIFA meeting being cancelled, this 
item will be presented to the TIFA board at their next meeting for funding for design of the fuel island, both parking lots, and 
the portion of Seyburn Road. The Seyburn Road portion will be a reimbursement to the Local Streets Fund. The Water Fund is 
budgeted to pay for the new water main loop along Seyburn Drive that will service the fuel island. 



Page 2 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends approval of the OHM Advisors engineering services scope for the 2026 Civic Campus Improvements including 
the Fuel Island, Seyburn Drive, & Parking Lots in the not to exceed amount of $185,000, material testing to G2 Consulting in 
the estimated amount of $15,000, and Fuel Island Design to Oscar W Larson in the amount of $64,546.30 totaling $264,546.30. 
Funding will be provided from the accounts as broken down in the body of this memo. 

MOTION 
Move to approve the OHM Advisors engineering services scope for the 2026 Civic Campus Improvements 
including the Fuel Island, Seyburn Drive, & Parking Lots in the not to exceed amount of $185,000, material testing 
to G2 Consulting in the estimated amount of $15,000, and Fuel Island Design to Oscar W Larson in the amount of 
$64,546.30 totaling $264,546.30. Funding will be provided from the accounts as broken down in the body of this 
memo and are pending approval from the TIFA board. 

EXHIBITS 
Exhibit 1 – City Council Sept. 17, 2025 Item 9a 
Exhibit 2 – OHM Design Scope 
Exhibit 3 – OWL Fuel Island Design Scope 
Exhibit 4 – OWL Service Building Design Scope 

I CONCUR: 

THOMAS A. TANGHE, CITY MANAGER 



























P:\0101_0125\0120240410_City_Campus_Fuel_Island\Drawings\2-CADD\3-Sheets\SITE\240410_NOT.dwgSep04,2025-9:55am DRAWINGPATH:

REVISIONDATE DESCRIPTION

PM PROJECTNUMBERISSUEDFOR:

CITYOFAUBURNHILLS

CITYCAMPUSFUELINGSTATION
3350ESEYBURNDR,AUBURNHILLS,MI48326

CIVILNOTES

C
-0

01

0120-24-0410AB

2025/09/04 SITEPLANAPPROVAL

----
----
----
----
----
----

PR
EL
IM
IN
A
R
Y
-N
O
T

FO
R
C
O
N
ST
R
U
C
TI
O
N



P:\0101_0125\0120240410_City_Campus_Fuel_Island\Drawings\2-CADD\3-Sheets\SITE\240410_NOT.dwgSep04,2025-9:55am DRAWINGPATH:

REVISIONDATE DESCRIPTION

PM PROJECTNUMBERISSUEDFOR:

CITYOFAUBURNHILLS

CITYCAMPUSFUELINGSTATION
3350ESEYBURNDR,AUBURNHILLS,MI48326

CIVILNOTES

C
-0

02

0120-24-0410AB

2025/09/04 SITEPLANAPPROVAL

----
----
----
----
----
----

PR
EL
IM
IN
A
R
Y
-N
O
T

FO
R
C
O
N
ST
R
U
C
TI
O
N



DRAWINGPATH:P:\0101_0125\0120240410_City_Campus_Fuel_Island\Drawings\2-CADD\3-Sheets\SITE\240410_LEG.dwgSeptember4,2025-9:55AM

REVISIONDATE DESCRIPTION

PM PROJECTNUMBERISSUEDFOR:

AR
C

H
IT

EC
TS

EN
G

IN
EE

R
S

PL
AN

N
ER

S

O
H

M
-A

D
VI

SO
R

S.
C

O
M

R

CITYOFAUBURNHILLS
CITYCAMPUSFUELINGSTATION
3350ESEYBURNDR,AUBURNHILLS,MI48326

LEGEND

C
-0

10

0120-24-0410AB
2025/09/04 SITEPLANAPPROVAL

----
----
----
----
----
----

SF

PR
EL
IM
IN
A
R
Y
-N
O
T

FO
R
C
O
N
ST
R
U
C
TI
O
N



Kn
ow

wh
at

's

DRAWINGPATH:P:\0101_0125\0120240410_City_Campus_Fuel_Island\Drawings\2-CADD\3-Sheets\SITE\240410_SUR_01.dwgSeptember4,2025-9:55AM

REVISIONDATE DESCRIPTION

PM PROJECTNUMBERISSUEDFOR:

AR
C

H
IT

EC
TS

EN
G

IN
EE

R
S

PL
AN

N
ER

S

O
H

M
-A

D
VI

SO
R

S.
C

O
M

R

CITYOFAUBURNHILLS
CITYCAMPUSFUELINGSTATION
3350ESEYBURNDR,AUBURNHILLS,MI48326

EXISTINGCONDITIONS

C
-1

10

0120-24-0410AB
2025/09/04 SITEPLANAPPROVAL

----
----
----
----
----
----

PR
EL
IM
IN
A
R
Y
-N
O
T

FO
R
C
O
N
ST
R
U
C
TI
O
N

fe
et

G
R
AP
H
IC
SC
AL
E:
FU
LL

0

fe
et

H
AL
F

20

60
40

20
10

40



Kn
ow

wh
at

's

DRAWINGPATH:P:\0101_0125\0120240410_City_Campus_Fuel_Island\Drawings\2-CADD\3-Sheets\SITE\240410_SUR_02.dwgSeptember4,2025-9:55AM

REVISIONDATE DESCRIPTION

PM PROJECTNUMBERISSUEDFOR:

AR
C

H
IT

EC
TS

EN
G

IN
EE

R
S

PL
AN

N
ER

S

O
H

M
-A

D
VI

SO
R

S.
C

O
M

R

CITYOFAUBURNHILLS
CITYCAMPUSFUELINGSTATION
3350ESEYBURNDR,AUBURNHILLS,MI48326

TREESURVEY

C
-1

11

0120-24-0410AB
2025/09/04 SITEPLANAPPROVAL

----
----
----
----
----
----

PR
EL
IM
IN
A
R
Y
-N
O
T

FO
R
C
O
N
ST
R
U
C
TI
O
N



Kn
ow

wh
at

's

DRAWINGPATH:P:\0101_0125\0120240410_City_Campus_Fuel_Island\Drawings\2-CADD\3-Sheets\SITE\240410_REM.dwgSeptember4,2025-9:55AM

REVISIONDATE DESCRIPTION

PM PROJECTNUMBERISSUEDFOR:

AR
C

H
IT

EC
TS

EN
G

IN
EE

R
S

PL
AN

N
ER

S

O
H

M
-A

D
VI

SO
R

S.
C

O
M

R

CITYOFAUBURNHILLS
CITYCAMPUSFUELINGSTATION
3350ESEYBURNDR,AUBURNHILLS,MI48326

DEMOLITIONANDREMOVALPLAN

C
-1

20

0120-24-0410AB
2025/09/04 SITEPLANAPPROVAL

----
----
----
----
----
----

PR
EL
IM
IN
A
R
Y
-N
O
T

FO
R
C
O
N
ST
R
U
C
TI
O
N

fe
et

G
R
AP
H
IC
SC
AL
E:
FU
LL

0

fe
et

H
AL
F

20

60
40

20
10

40



Kn
ow

wh
at

's

DRAWINGPATH:P:\0101_0125\0120240410_City_Campus_Fuel_Island\Drawings\2-CADD\3-Sheets\SITE\240410_REM.dwgSeptember4,2025-9:55AM

REVISIONDATE DESCRIPTION

PM PROJECTNUMBERISSUEDFOR:

AR
C

H
IT

EC
TS

EN
G

IN
EE

R
S

PL
AN

N
ER

S

O
H

M
-A

D
VI

SO
R

S.
C

O
M

R

CITYOFAUBURNHILLS
CITYCAMPUSFUELINGSTATION
3350ESEYBURNDR,AUBURNHILLS,MI48326

PLAYGROUNDDEMOLITIONANDREMOVALPLAN

C
-1

21

0120-24-0410AB
2025/09/04 SITEPLANAPPROVAL

----
----
----
----
----
----

PR
EL
IM
IN
A
RY

-N
O
T

FO
R
CO
NS
TR
UC
TI
O
N

fe
et

G
R
AP
H
IC
SC
AL
E:

FU
LL

0

fe
et

H
AL
F

10

30
20

10
5

20



DRAWINGPATH:P:\0101_0125\0120240410_City_Campus_Fuel_Island\Drawings\2-CADD\3-Sheets\SITE\240410_STE.dwgSeptember5,2025-8:37AM

REVISIONDATE DESCRIPTION

PM PROJECTNUMBERISSUEDFOR:

AR
C

H
IT

EC
TS

EN
G

IN
EE

R
S

PL
AN

N
ER

S

O
H

M
-A

D
VI

SO
R

S.
C

O
M

R

CITYOFAUBURNHILLS
CITYCAMPUSFUELINGSTATION
3350ESEYBURNDR,AUBURNHILLS,MI48326

DIMENSIONALSITEPLAN

C
-1

30

0120-24-0410AB
2025/09/04 SITEPLANAPPROVAL

----
----
----
----
----
----

Kn
ow

wh
at

's

PR
EL
IM
IN
A
R
Y
-N
O
T

FO
R
C
O
N
ST
R
U
CT
IO
N

fe
et

G
R
AP
H
IC
SC
AL
E:

FU
LL

0

fe
et

H
AL
F

20

60
40

20
10

40



DRAWINGPATH:P:\0101_0125\0120240410_City_Campus_Fuel_Island\Drawings\2-CADD\3-Sheets\SITE\240410_UTL.dwgSeptember5,2025-8:43AM

REVISIONDATE DESCRIPTION

PM PROJECTNUMBERISSUEDFOR:

AR
C

H
IT

EC
TS

EN
G

IN
EE

R
S

PL
AN

N
ER

S

O
H

M
-A

D
VI

SO
R

S.
C

O
M

R

CITYOFAUBURNHILLS
CITYCAMPUSFUELINGSTATION
3350ESEYBURNDR,AUBURNHILLS,MI48326

ENGINEERINGPLAN

C
-1

40

0120-24-0410AB
2025/09/04 SITEPLANAPPROVAL

----
----
----
----
----
----

fe
et

G
R
AP
H
IC
SC
AL
E:
FU
LL

0

fe
et

H
AL
F

20

60
40

20
10

40

Kn
ow

wh
at

's

PR
EL
IM
IN
A
R
Y
-N
O
T

FO
R
C
O
N
ST
R
U
CT
IO
N



Kn
ow

wh
at

's

DRAWINGPATH:P:\0101_0125\0120240410_City_Campus_Fuel_Island\Drawings\2-CADD\3-Sheets\SITE\240410_GRD.dwgSeptember5,2025-8:43AM

REVISIONDATE DESCRIPTION

PM PROJECTNUMBERISSUEDFOR:

AR
C

H
IT

EC
TS

EN
G

IN
EE

R
S

PL
AN

N
ER

S

O
H

M
-A

D
VI

SO
R

S.
C

O
M

R

CITYOFAUBURNHILLS
CITYCAMPUSFUELINGSTATION
3350ESEYBURNDR,AUBURNHILLS,MI48326

GRADINGPLAN

C
-1

70

0120-24-0410AB
2025/09/04 SITEPLANAPPROVAL

----
----
----
----
----
----

PR
EL
IM
IN
A
R
Y
-N
O
T

FO
R
C
O
N
ST
R
U
C
TI
O
N

fe
et

G
R
AP
H
IC
SC
AL
E:

FU
LL

0

fe
et

H
AL
F

20

60
40

20
10

40



DRAWINGPATH:P:\0101_0125\0120240410_City_Campus_Fuel_Island\Drawings\2-CADD\3-Sheets\SITE\240410_STD.dwgSeptember4,2025-9:56AM

REVISIONDATE DESCRIPTION

PM PROJECTNUMBERISSUEDFOR:

AR
C

H
IT

EC
TS

EN
G

IN
EE

R
S

PL
AN

N
ER

S

O
H

M
-A

D
VI

SO
R

S.
C

O
M

R

CITYOFAUBURNHILLS
CITYCAMPUSFUELINGSTATION
3350ESEYBURNDR,AUBURNHILLS,MI48326

CITYOFAUBURNHILLSSTORMSEWERSTANDARDDETAILS

C
-5

10

0120-24-0410AB
2025/09/04 SITEPLANAPPROVAL

----
----
----
----
----
----

PR
EL
IM
IN
A
R
Y
-N
O
T

FO
R
C
O
N
ST
R
U
CT
IO
N



DRAWINGPATH:P:\0101_0125\0120240410_City_Campus_Fuel_Island\Drawings\2-CADD\3-Sheets\SITE\240410_STD.dwgSeptember4,2025-9:56AM

REVISIONDATE DESCRIPTION

PM PROJECTNUMBERISSUEDFOR:

AR
C

H
IT

EC
TS

EN
G

IN
EE

R
S

PL
AN

N
ER

S

O
H

M
-A

D
VI

SO
R

S.
C

O
M

R

CITYOFAUBURNHILLS
CITYCAMPUSFUELINGSTATION
3350ESEYBURNDR,AUBURNHILLS,MI48326

CITYOFAUBURNHILLSSTORMSEWERSTANDARDDETAILS

C
-5

11

0120-24-0410AB
2025/09/04 SITEPLANAPPROVAL

----
----
----
----
----
----

PR
EL
IM
IN
A
RY

-N
O
T

FO
R
CO

NS
TR
U
C
TI
O
N



DRAWINGPATH:P:\0101_0125\0120240410_City_Campus_Fuel_Island\Drawings\2-CADD\3-Sheets\SITE\240410_STD.dwgSeptember4,2025-9:56AM

REVISIONDATE DESCRIPTION

PM PROJECTNUMBERISSUEDFOR:

AR
C

H
IT

EC
TS

EN
G

IN
EE

R
S

PL
AN

N
ER

S

O
H

M
-A

D
VI

SO
R

S.
C

O
M

R

CITYOFAUBURNHILLS
CITYCAMPUSFUELINGSTATION
3350ESEYBURNDR,AUBURNHILLS,MI48326

CITYOFAUBURNHILLSWATERMAINSTANDARDDETAILS

C
-5

12

0120-24-0410AB
2025/09/04 SITEPLANAPPROVAL

----
----
----
----
----
----

PR
EL
IM
IN
A
RY

-N
O
T

FO
R
CO

NS
TR
U
C
TI
O
N



DRAWINGPATH:P:\0101_0125\0120240410_City_Campus_Fuel_Island\Drawings\2-CADD\3-Sheets\SITE\240410_STD.dwgSeptember4,2025-9:56AM

REVISIONDATE DESCRIPTION

PM PROJECTNUMBERISSUEDFOR:

AR
C

H
IT

EC
TS

EN
G

IN
EE

R
S

PL
AN

N
ER

S

O
H

M
-A

D
VI

SO
R

S.
C

O
M

R

CITYOFAUBURNHILLS
CITYCAMPUSFUELINGSTATION
3350ESEYBURNDR,AUBURNHILLS,MI48326

CITYOFAUBURNHILLSWATERMAINSTANDARDDETAILS

C
-5

13

0120-24-0410AB
2025/09/04 SITEPLANAPPROVAL

----
----
----
----
----
----

PR
EL
IM
IN
A
RY

-N
O
T

FO
R
CO

NS
TR
U
C
TI
O
N



DRAWINGPATH:P:\0101_0125\0120240410_City_Campus_Fuel_Island\Drawings\2-CADD\3-Sheets\SITE\240410_STD.dwgSeptember4,2025-9:56AM

REVISIONDATE DESCRIPTION

PM PROJECTNUMBERISSUEDFOR:

AR
C

H
IT

EC
TS

EN
G

IN
EE

R
S

PL
AN

N
ER

S

O
H

M
-A

D
VI

SO
R

S.
C

O
M

R

CITYOFAUBURNHILLS
CITYCAMPUSFUELINGSTATION
3350ESEYBURNDR,AUBURNHILLS,MI48326

CITYOFAUBURNHILLSWATERMAINSTANDARDDETAILS

C
-5

14

0120-24-0410AB
2025/09/04 SITEPLANAPPROVAL

----
----
----
----
----
----

PR
EL
IM
IN
A
RY

-N
O
T

FO
R
CO

NS
TR
U
C
TI
O
N



DRAWINGPATH:P:\0101_0125\0120240410_City_Campus_Fuel_Island\Drawings\2-CADD\3-Sheets\SITE\240410_STD.dwgSeptember4,2025-9:56AM

REVISIONDATE DESCRIPTION

PM PROJECTNUMBERISSUEDFOR:

AR
C

H
IT

EC
TS

EN
G

IN
EE

R
S

PL
AN

N
ER

S

O
H

M
-A

D
VI

SO
R

S.
C

O
M

R

CITYOFAUBURNHILLS
CITYCAMPUSFUELINGSTATION
3350ESEYBURNDR,AUBURNHILLS,MI48326

CITYOFAUBURNHILLSPAVINGSTANDARDDETAILS

C
-5

15

0120-24-0410AB
2025/09/04 SITEPLANAPPROVAL

----
----
----
----
----
----

PR
EL
IM
IN
A
RY

-N
O
T

FO
R
CO

NS
TR
U
C
TI
O
N



DRAWINGPATH:P:\0101_0125\0120240410_City_Campus_Fuel_Island\Drawings\2-CADD\3-Sheets\SITE\240410_STD.dwgSeptember4,2025-9:56AM

REVISIONDATE DESCRIPTION

PM PROJECTNUMBERISSUEDFOR:

AR
C

H
IT

EC
TS

EN
G

IN
EE

R
S

PL
AN

N
ER

S

O
H

M
-A

D
VI

SO
R

S.
C

O
M

R

CITYOFAUBURNHILLS
CITYCAMPUSFUELINGSTATION
3350ESEYBURNDR,AUBURNHILLS,MI48326

CITYOFAUBURNHILLSPAVINGSTANDARDDETAILS

C
-5

16

0120-24-0410AB
2025/09/04 SITEPLANAPPROVAL

----
----
----
----
----
----

PR
EL
IM
IN
A
RY

-N
O
T

FO
R
CO

NS
TR
U
C
TI
O
N



DRAWINGPATH:P:\0101_0125\0120240410_City_Campus_Fuel_Island\Drawings\2-CADD\3-Sheets\SITE\240410_STD.dwgSeptember4,2025-9:56AM

REVISIONDATE DESCRIPTION

PM PROJECTNUMBERISSUEDFOR:

AR
C

H
IT

EC
TS

EN
G

IN
EE

R
S

PL
AN

N
ER

S

O
H

M
-A

D
VI

SO
R

S.
C

O
M

R

CITYOFAUBURNHILLS
CITYCAMPUSFUELINGSTATION
3350ESEYBURNDR,AUBURNHILLS,MI48326

CITYOFAUBURNHILLSSANITARYSEWERSTANDARDDETAILS

C
-5

17

0120-24-0410AB
2025/09/04 SITEPLANAPPROVAL

----
----
----
----
----
----

PR
EL
IM
IN
A
RY

-N
O
T

FO
R
C
O
N
ST
R
U
CT
IO
N



DRAWINGPATH:P:\0101_0125\0120240410_City_Campus_Fuel_Island\Drawings\2-CADD\3-Sheets\SITE\240410_STD.dwgSeptember4,2025-9:56AM

REVISIONDATE DESCRIPTION

PM PROJECTNUMBERISSUEDFOR:

AR
C

H
IT

EC
TS

EN
G

IN
EE

R
S

PL
AN

N
ER

S

O
H

M
-A

D
VI

SO
R

S.
C

O
M

R

CITYOFAUBURNHILLS
CITYCAMPUSFUELINGSTATION
3350ESEYBURNDR,AUBURNHILLS,MI48326

CITYOFAUBURNHILLSSANITARYSEWERSTANDARDDETAILS

C
-5

18

0120-24-0410AB
2025/09/04 SITEPLANAPPROVAL

----
----
----
----
----
----

PR
EL
IM
IN
A
R
Y
-N
O
T

FO
R
C
O
N
ST
R
U
CT
IO
N



SF

SF

SF

SF
SF

SF
SF

SF
S F

SF
SF

SF
S F

SF
SF

SF
SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SFSF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SFSFSF

SF
SF

SF

SF
SF

SF
SF

SF
SF

SF
SF

SF
SF

SF
SF

SF
SF

SF
SF

SF
SF

SF

DRAWINGPATH:P:\0101_0125\0120240410_City_Campus_Fuel_Island\Drawings\2-CADD\3-Sheets\SITE\240410_SEC.dwgSeptember5,2025-8:44AM

REVISIONDATE DESCRIPTION

PM PROJECTNUMBERISSUEDFOR:

AR
C

H
IT

EC
TS

EN
G

IN
EE

R
S

PL
AN

N
ER

S

O
H

M
-A

D
VI

SO
R

S.
C

O
M

R

CITYOFAUBURNHILLS
CITYCAMPUSFUELINGSTATION
3350ESEYBURNDR,AUBURNHILLS,MI48326

SOILEROSIONANDSEDIMENTATIONCONTROLPLAN

C
-7

01

0120-24-0410AB
2025/09/04 SITEPLANAPPROVAL

----
----
----
----
----
----

S
F

S
F

Kn
ow

wh
at

's

PR
EL
IM
IN
A
R
Y
-N
O
T

FO
R
C
O
N
ST
R
U
C
TI
O
N

fe
et

G
R
AP
H
IC
SC
AL
E:
FU
LL

0

fe
et

H
AL
F

20

60
40

20
10

40



DRAWINGPATH:P:\0101_0125\0120240410_City_Campus_Fuel_Island\Drawings\2-CADD\3-Sheets\SITE\240410_STD.dwgSeptember4,2025-10:35AM

REVISIONDATE DESCRIPTION

PM PROJECTNUMBERISSUEDFOR:

AR
C

H
IT

EC
TS

EN
G

IN
EE

R
S

PL
AN

N
ER

S

O
H

M
-A

D
VI

SO
R

S.
C

O
M

R

CITYOFAUBURNHILLS
CITYCAMPUSFUELINGSTATION
3350ESEYBURNDR,AUBURNHILLS,MI48326

SOILEROSIONANDSEDIMENTATIONCONTROLDETAILS

C
-7

10

0120-24-0410AB
2025/09/04 SITEPLANAPPROVAL

----
----
----
----
----
----

PR
EL
IM
IN
A
R
Y
-N
O
T

FO
R
C
O
N
ST
R
U
C
TI
O
N



(4
)L
I-S
S

(1
)P
A
-A
C

(2
)C
O
-R
A

(7
)V
I-A
C

(2
)C
O
-R
A

(3
)H
A
-IN

(1
)T
I-C
O

(1
)S
A
-A
L

(1
)T
I-C
O

(2
)Q
U
-R
U

(4
)P
S-
M
E

(4
)R
H
-A
R

(4
)P
I-P
U

(3
)T
S-
C
A

(2
)A
M
-C
A

(3
)C
O
-R
A

(3
)A
B-
BA

(1
)C
O
-R
A

(2
)C
O
-R
A

(2
)R
H
-A
R

(4
)P
I-A
B

(7
)R
H
-A
R

(1
)T
I-C
O (1
)S
A-
AL

(1
)P
A-
AC

(3
)P
I-A
B

(7
)V
I-A
C

(1
2)
VI
-A
C

(3
)P
I-P
U

(1
)P
I-R
E

(2
)P
I-R
E

(5
)P
S-
M
E

(1
9)
R
H
-A
R

(6
)L
I-S
S

(5
)H
A-
IN

(2
)P
A-
AC

(3
)A
B-
BA

(3
)A
B-
C
O

(1
1)
VI
-A
C

(1
)H
A-
IN

(1
)S
A-
AL

(1
)S
A-
AL

D
ES
C
R
IP
TI
O
N

SU
R
VE
YE
D
TR
EE
S

R
EP
LA
C
EM
EN
T
TR
EE
S

10
0

8
23

33
33

53
0

TO
TA
LS

10
4

56

TO
TA
L
LA
N
D
SC
AP
E
TR
EE
S

56
72

C
O
D
E

Q
TY

BO
TA
N
IC
AL

N
AM

E
C
O
M
M
O
N
N
AM

E
SI
ZE

C
O
N
TA
IN
ER

R
EM

AR
KS

D
EC
ID
U
O
U
S
TR
EE
S

LI
-S
S

10
LI
Q
U
ID
A
M
BA
R
ST
YR
A
C
IF
LU
A
'S
LE
N
D
ER

SI
LH
O
U
ET
TE
'
SL
EN
D
ER

S
IL
H
O
U
ET
TE

S
W
EE
T
G
U
M

2.
5"
C
AL
.

B
&B

PA
-A
C

4
PL
AT
AN
U
S
X
AC
ER
IF
O
LI
A

LO
N
D
O
N
PL
A
N
E
TR
E
E

2.
5"
C
AL
.

B
&B

Q
U
-R
U

2
Q
U
ER
C
U
S
R
U
BR
A

N
O
R
TH
E
R
N
R
ED

O
AK

2"
C
AL
.

B&
B

S
A-
AL

4
SA
SS
AF
R
AS

AL
BI
D
U
M

SA
SS
AF
R
A
S

2"
C
AL
.

B
&B

TI
-C
O

3
TI
LI
A
C
O
R
D
AT
A

LI
TT
LE
LE
AF

LI
N
D
E
N

2.
5"
C
AL
.

B
&B

EV
ER
G
R
EE
N
TR
EE
S

AB
-B
A

6
AB
IE
S
B
AL
SA
M
EA

B
AL
SA
M
FI
R

5`
H
T.

B
&B

AB
-C
O

3
AB
IE
S
C
O
N
C
O
LO
R

W
H
IT
E
FI
R

8`
H
T.

B
&B

PI
-A
B

7
PI
C
E
A
AB
IE
S

N
O
R
W
AY

SP
R
U
C
E

8`
H
T.

B
&B

PI
-P
U

7
PI
C
E
A
PU
N
G
EN
S
G
LA
U
C
A

C
O
LO
R
AD
O
BL
U
E
SP
R
U
C
E

8`
H
T.

B
&B

PI
-R
E

3
PI
N
U
S
R
ES
IN
O
SA

R
E
D
PI
N
E

8`
H
T.

B
&B

PS
-M
E

9
PS
E
U
D
O
TS
U
G
A
M
EN
ZI
E
SI
I

D
O
U
G
LA
S
FI
R

8`
H
T.

B
&B

TS
-C
A

3
TS
U
G
A
C
AN
AD
EN
SI
S

E
AS
TE
R
N
H
EM
LO
C
K

5`
H
T.

B
&B

O
R
N
AM

EN
TA
L
TR
EE
S

AM
-C
A

2
AM

EL
AN
C
H
IE
R
C
AN
AD
EN
SI
S

SE
R
VI
C
EB
ER
R
Y

2"
C
AL
.

B
&B

M
U
LT
I-S
TE
M

H
A-
IN

9
H
AM

AM
EL
IS
X
IN
TE
R
M
ED
IA
'A
R
N
O
LD

PR
O
M
IS
E'

AR
N
O
LD

P
R
O
M
IS
E
W
IT
C
H
H
AZ
EL

2"
C
AL
.

B
&B

M
U
LT
I-S
TE
M

PL
AN
T
SC
H
ED
U
LE

14
%

14
%

6%
6%

3%
3%

6%
6%

4%
4%

C
O
D
E

Q
TY

BO
TA
N
IC
AL

N
AM

E
C
O
M
M
O
N
N
AM

E
SI
ZE

C
O
N
TA
IN
ER

D
EC
ID
U
O
U
S
SH
R
U
BS

C
O
-R
A

10
C
O
R
N
U
S
R
A
C
EM
O
SA

G
R
AY

D
O
G
W
O
O
D

3
G
AL
.

C
O
N
T.

R
H
-A
R

32
R
H
U
S
AR
O
M
A
TI
C
A

FR
AG
R
AN
T
SU
M
A
C

3
G
AL
.

C
O
N
T.

VI
-A
C

37
VI
B
U
R
N
U
M
A
C
ER
IF
O
LI
U
M

M
AP
LE
LE
A
F
VI
BU
R
N
U
M

3
G
AL
.

C
O
N
T.

PL
AN
T
SC
H
ED
U
LE

TO
TA
L

72

TO
TA
L

79

8%
13
%

4% 10
%

19
%

10
%

4%
4%

13
%

13
%

4%
4%

3%
3%

13
%

13
%

DRAWINGPATH:P:\0101_0125\0120240410_City_Campus_Fuel_Island\Drawings\2-CADD\3-Sheets\PLACE\240410_PLT.dwgSeptember4,2025-9:56AM

REVISIONDATE DESCRIPTION

PM PROJECTNUMBERISSUEDFOR:

AR
C

H
IT

EC
TS

EN
G

IN
EE

R
S

PL
AN

N
ER

S

O
H

M
-A

D
VI

SO
R

S.
C

O
M

R

CITYOFAUBURNHILLS
CITYCAMPUSFUELINGSTATION
3350ESEYBURNDR,AUBURNHILLS,MI48326

LANDSCAPEANDRESTORATIONPLAN

L-
14

0

0120-24-0410AB
2025/09/04 SITEPLANAPPROVAL

----
----
----
----
----
----

fe
et

G
R
AP
H
IC
SC
AL
E:
FU
LL

0

fe
et

H
AL
F

20

60
40

20
10

40

Kn
ow

wh
at

's

PR
EL
IM
IN
A
R
Y
-N
O
T

FO
R
C
O
N
ST
R
U
C
TI
O
N



DRAWINGPATH:P:\0101_0125\0120240410_City_Campus_Fuel_Island\Drawings\2-CADD\3-Sheets\PLACE\240410_TRP.dwgSeptember4,2025-9:56AM

REVISIONDATE DESCRIPTION

PM PROJECTNUMBERISSUEDFOR:

AR
C

H
IT

EC
TS

EN
G

IN
EE

R
S

PL
AN

N
ER

S

O
H

M
-A

D
VI

SO
R

S.
C

O
M

R

CITYOFAUBURNHILLS
CITYCAMPUSFUELINGSTATION
3350ESEYBURNDR,AUBURNHILLS,MI48326

TREEPROTECTIONPLAN

L-
14

1

0120-24-0410AB
2025/09/04 SITEPLANAPPROVAL

----
----
----
----
----
----

fe
et

G
R
AP
H
IC
SC
AL
E:
FU
LL

0

fe
et

H
AL
F

20

60
40

20
10

40

Kn
ow

wh
at

's

PR
EL
IM
IN
A
R
Y
-N
O
T

FO
R
C
O
N
ST
R
U
CT
IO
N



DRAWINGPATH:P:\0101_0125\0120240410_City_Campus_Fuel_Island\Drawings\2-CADD\3-Sheets\PLACE\240410_L-DET.dwgSeptember4,2025-9:56AM

REVISIONDATE DESCRIPTION

PM PROJECTNUMBERISSUEDFOR:

AR
C

H
IT

EC
TS

EN
G

IN
EE

R
S

PL
AN

N
ER

S

O
H

M
-A

D
VI

SO
R

S.
C

O
M

R

CITYOFAUBURNHILLS
CITYCAMPUSFUELINGSTATION
3350ESEYBURNDR,AUBURNHILLS,MI48326

LANDSCAPEDETAILS

L-
50

1

0120-24-0410AB
2025/09/04 SITEPLANAPPROVAL

----
----
----
----
----
----



FI
N

IS
H

FL
O

O
R

EL
=

10
0'

-0
"

TR
U

SS
BE

AR
IN

G
EL

=
10

8'
-1

1/
8"

BU
IL

D
IN

G
H

EI
G

H
T

EL
=

11
0'

-4
"

PE
AK

H
EI

G
H

T
EL

=
11

2'
-0

"
12

6
12

6

FI
N

IS
H

FL
O

O
R

EL
=

10
0'

-0
"

TR
U

SS
BE

AR
IN

G
EL

=
10

8'
-1

1/
8"

T/
D

O
O

R
EL

=
10

7'
-0

"

BU
IL

D
IN

G
H

EI
G

H
T

EL
=

11
0'

-4
"

PE
AK

H
EI

G
H

T
EL

=
11

2'
-0

"

FI
N

IS
H

FL
O

O
R

EL
=

10
0'

-0
"

TR
U

SS
BE

AR
IN

G
EL

=
10

8'
-1

1/
8"

BU
IL

D
IN

G
H

EI
G

H
T

EL
=

11
0'

-4
"

PE
AK

H
EI

G
H

T
EL

=
11

2'
-0

"

FI
N

IS
H

FL
O

O
R

EL
=

10
0'

-0
"

TR
U

SS
BE

AR
IN

G
EL

=
10

8'
-1

1/
8"

BU
IL

D
IN

G
H

EI
G

H
T

EL
=

11
0'

-4
"

PE
AK

H
EI

G
H

T
EL

=
11

2'
-0

"

12
6

FI
N

IS
H

G
R

AD
E(

AS
PH

AL
T)

EL
=

10
0'

-0
"

BU
IL

D
IN

G
H

EI
G

H
T

EL
=

12
2'

-3
"

PE
AK

H
EI

G
H

T
EL

=
12

6'
-0

"
12

6

FI
N

IS
H

G
R

AD
E(

AS
PH

AL
T)

EL
=

10
0'

-0
"

BU
IL

D
IN

G
H

EI
G

H
T

EL
=

12
2'

-3
"

PE
AK

H
EI

G
H

T
EL

=
12

6'
-0

"

DRAWINGPATH:P:\0101_0125\0120240410_City_Campus_Fuel_Island\Drawings\2-CADD\3-Sheets\ARCH\0120240410ArchConcept.dwgSeptember4,2025-9:56AM

REVISIONDATE DESCRIPTION

PM PROJECTNUMBERISSUEDFOR:

AR
C

H
IT

EC
TS

EN
G

IN
EE

R
S

PL
AN

N
ER

S

O
H

M
-A

D
VI

SO
R

S.
C

O
M

R

CITYOFAUBURNHILLS
CITYCAMPUSFUELINGSTATION
3350ESEYBURNDR,AUBURNHILLS,MI48326

ARCHITECTURALCONCEPT

A-
10

1

0120-24-0410AB
2025/09/04 SITEPLANAPPROVAL

----
----
----
----
----
----





 
 
 

OHM Advisors® 
2365 PONTIAC RD, SUITE 201 
AUBURN HILLS, MICHIGAN 48326 

T 248.751.3100 
F 248.287.4201 OHM-Advisors.com 

 

January 5, 2026 
 
 
City of Auburn Hills 
1500 Brown Road 
Auburn Hills, MI 48326 

Attention: Mr. Stephen Baldante 
  Director of Public Works 

Regarding: 2026 Civic Campus Improvements 
  Fuel Island, Seyburn Drive, & Parking Lots 
  Scope of Engineering Services 
 
Dear Mr. Baldante: 
 
Thank you for this opportunity to provide professional engineering services for the above referenced project. We have 
prepared the following project understanding and scope of services to be provided by OHM Advisors based on our 
previous discussions. 
 
PROJECT UNDERSTANDING 

It is our understanding that the City of Auburn Hills plans to move forward with several infrastructure improvements at 
the Civic Center Campus.  These improvements include the installation of a new municipal fueling island for use by City 
fleet vehicles, reconstruction of a portion of Seyburn Drive, rehabilitation of the Community Center and Library parking 
lots, and installation of a new water main loop along Seyburn to serve the new fuel island. 
 
The new fuel island will be constructed on a vacant portion of the campus at the end of Seyburn Drive, adjacent to the 
Community Center.  The fuel island will include a dual-dispenser pump for both gasoline and diesel fuel, underground 
fuel storage tanks, a canopy, a small service/equipment building with storage for Diesel Exhaust Fluid (DEF), paved area 
for vehicle/truck circulation, lighting, and landscaping.  It should be noted that the site plan for the fuel island has been 
reviewed and approved by the Planning Commission and City Council.  The City has engaged with Oscar W. Larson 
Services (OWL), to design and install all fuel storage and filling infrastructure, fuel area pad, the canopy, and service 
building.  OHM will coordinate design details with OWL as needed. 
 
Seyburn Drive will be reconstructed from the end of the concrete portion from University Drive south to the end at the 
new driveway for the fuel island.  The work will include removal of the existing asphalt pavement and base, and installation 
of a new thicker aggregate base and HMA pavement section.  This thicker pavement section will accommodate vehicle 
traffic utilizing the new fuel island as well as truck traffic anticipated for the adjacent Westcast Industries development.  
The road work will also include removal and replacement of deteriorated sections of curb/gutter as well as drainage 
structure repairs. 
 
Rehabilitation of the parking lots at the Community Center and Library will consist of removal and replacement of the 
asphalt pavement, select areas of base improvements, curb/gutter repairs, drainage structure repairs, storm sewer 
improvements, and sidewalk ramp updates as needed.   
 
  



2026 Civic Campus Improvements 
January 5, 2026  
Page 2 of 4 

 

OHM Advisors® 
2365 PONTIAC RD, SUITE 201 
AUBURN HILLS, MICHIGAN 48326 

T 248.751.3100 
F 248.287.4201 OHM-Advisors.com 

 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 

Task 1 – Project Initiation and Obtain Information 
Under this task, we will initiate the project and obtain necessary information to proceed with the design. Specific work 
efforts include: 

• Organize and attend a kickoff meeting with City staff to review project objectives, prepare design criteria, and 
establish a specific delivery schedule. 

• Review existing utility information and record drawings for the project areas.   

• Perform a site review to identify elements that are sensitive to project, i.e. driveway locations and other access 
issues, utility facilities in the area, geometric deficiencies, landscape/aesthetic features, and drainage items. 

• Obtain specific topographic survey information for the project areas.  

• Perform tree survey in accordance with City requirements for site plan approval. 

• Notify known utility agencies of the proposed work and verify locations of existing known utilities, including 
both public and private, within the project limits for conflicts and coordinate relocations if necessary. 

• Coordinate with a Geotechnical Engineer to obtain soil borings and pavement cores along the project route. 

• Arrange and attend three separate meetings with City staff and stakeholders to review project concepts, 
alternatives, and constraints. 

 
Task 2 – Preliminary Plan Development 
Under this task, we will undertake the preparation of plans and specifications for the project and apply for the necessary 
permits.  Specific work efforts include: 

• Review field information collected to identify any deficient areas in the existing conditions.   

• Determine preliminary water main alignment, constraints, and conflicts. 

• Prepare typical cross-sections for the project. 

• Determine preliminary site layout for the proposed fuel island and prepare site plan package. 

• Coordinate with the Geotechnical Engineer and assist in developing pavement cross-sections.  

• Develop building/architectural plans for new equipment building to support fuel island. 

• Evaluate existing power supply from Community Center and develop electrical plan for service extension to fuel 
island building. 

• Develop parking lot plans based on comments received from the City on base plans.  Plans will be prepared 
using a scale of 1”=20’ (profile scale 1”=4’). 

• Coordinate with OWL on fuel station infrastructure/equipment location, details, grading, etc. 

• Develop proposed drainage and storm sewer plans in accordance with City standards as necessary. 

• Prepare or reference technical specifications entailing materials, equipment, and labor necessary to perform the 
work. 

• Compute preliminary quantities and prepare a preliminary Engineer’s Opinion of Probable Construction Cost. 

• Develop pavement marking and signing plans within the affected influence of the project in accordance with 
MMUTCD requirements. 

• Evaluate grading and impacts associated with the proposed work and determine construction limits. 

• Prepare proposed preliminary schedule for work including the construction start, substantial completion, and 
final completion dates. 

• Prepare documents to obtain a Oakland County Water Resources Commissioner (OCWRC) soil erosion permit, 
Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, & Energy (EGLE) water main construction permit, and 
other permits deemed necessary to complete the project as described. 

• Arrange and attend a meeting with City staff to review the preliminary plans and specifications. 
 
Task 3 – Final Design and Contract Documents 
Based on comments received on the preliminary plans and final construction documents will be created and advertised 
for bidding.  Specific work efforts include: 

• Finalize design plans based on comments obtained. 



2026 Civic Campus Improvements 
January 5, 2026  
Page 3 of 4 

 

OHM Advisors® 
2365 PONTIAC RD, SUITE 201 
AUBURN HILLS, MICHIGAN 48326 

T 248.751.3100 
F 248.287.4201 OHM-Advisors.com 

 

• Complete construction details. 

• Finalize detailed grading. 

• Prepare a bid sheet entailing all items of work and associated quantities. 

• Prepare a final engineer’s opinion of probable cost. 

• Prepare and place an advertisement for bid. 

• Finalize schedule for proposed work including the construction start, substantial completion, and final 
completion dates. 

• Produce copies of contract documents. 

• Attend the bid opening. 

• Prepare and evaluate a project bid tab. 

• Check references for the three lowest bidding contractors. 

• Provide a recommendation of award. 

• OHM will assist in executing the Contract books including the following 
i. Create and mail out a Notice of Award letter to the awarded Contractor. 
ii. Coordinate the execution of six (6) copies of contract book. 
iii. Produce two (2) executed copies of contract documents for the City.  One copy will be delivered to the 

City Clerk and one copy will be delivered to the DPW. 

• If the City Council does not award the contract, then OHM will communicate that information to the appropriate 
Contractors.  

 
SCHEDULE 

The project will commence upon authorization to proceed. The field work for the project has been completed with design, 
and permitting underway. We anticipate that the project could be bid for a presentation to City Council in early 2026.  If 
the project is approved, construction could commence in April/May of 2026.  This schedule is based upon an 
authorization to proceed given by January 19, 2026 and coordination with equipment to be provided/installed by OWL.   
 

COMPENSATION 

The services outlined above will be performed on an hourly basis for the not-to-exceed amount of one hundred eighty-
five thousand dollars ($185,000.00). This amount is based on the assumptions listed below. The City will be invoiced for 
services on a monthly basis. The estimated budget breakdown is as follows: 
 
 Fuel Island $  85,000 
 Community Center Parking Lot $  30,000 
 Library Parking Lot $  20,000 
 Seyburn Drive Roadway $  25,000 
 Seyburn Water Main $  25,000 
 Total $185,000    

 
Geotechnical Services Estimate (G2 Consulting) $ 15,000 

 

FURTHER CLARIFICATIONS AND ASSUMPTIONS 

The above-listed scope of services was prepared with the following assumptions:   
• The City will be responsible for all permit application fees and permit fees. 

• Geotechnical Services will be provided by G2 under a separate contract and are not included in this scope of 
services. The estimated amount for this service is indicated above. 

• All fuel station components (including canopy, pumps, tanks, controls, electrical, concrete pad, etc.) will be 
supplied and constructed by OWL under separate contract with the City.  This work will be coordinated with the 
Contractor selected for this project. 

• No permanent right-of-way or property acquisition is anticipated. City will obtain temporary grading easements, 



2026 Civic Campus Improvements 
January 5, 2026  
Page 4 of 4 

 

OHM Advisors® 
2365 PONTIAC RD, SUITE 201 
AUBURN HILLS, MICHIGAN 48326 

T 248.751.3100 
F 248.287.4201 OHM-Advisors.com 

 

if required. 
• OHM will be pleased to provide any additional services for this project on an hourly basis.  Services not included 

in this proposal: 
a. Construction phase services such as, but not limited to, construction management, construction 

engineering, construction administration, construction observation and/or construction layout. 
b. Wetland delineation and survey, mitigation, and permitting. 
c. Environmental assessments or reports, drainage studies, or other environmental evaluations associated 

with potential contaminated soils. 
d. Location of private utilities, other than requesting as-built information from private utility owners. 

 
Should you find this agreement acceptable, please sign the authorization below and return a copy to us for our files.  We 
look forward to providing professional services on this project.  If you have any questions, please contact us. 
 
Sincerely, 
OHM Advisors 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Timothy J. Juidici, P.E. 
Principal-in-Charge 
 

cc: Jason Hefner, Manager of Roads & Fleet 
 Brandon Skopek, Assistant City Manager 
 Hannah Driesenga, OHM 
 

City of Auburn Hills 

2026 Civic Campus Improvements 
Engineering Design Services 

 
 
Accepted By:            
 
Printed Name:            
 
Title:   

 
Date:   













MEETING DATE:  JANUARY 19, 2026 AGENDA ITEM NO 13A 

13. CLOSED SESSION
No Electronic Information Available

MOTION 
Move to meet in closed session to discuss a confidential legal update regarding pending litigation pursuant to 
MCL 15.268(1)(e) of the Open Meetings Act. 





Auburn Hills council studies options for potential new fire millage 

Auburn-Hills campus city sign 
By Peg McNichol | pmcnichol@medianewsgroup.com 
PUBLISHED: January 5, 2026 at 5:25 PM EST | UPDATED: January 6, 2026 at 1:50 PM EST 

Auburn Hills city council‘s Monday study session will focus on whether the city needs a new fire millage. 

City manager Tom Tanghe, with the city’s finance director, Michelle Schulz, and fire department leaders 
will present a detailed report showing the council options for fixing an anticipated deficit. 

The city’s existing 2.5 mills fire millage has been shaved by Headlee to 2.49 mills but provides close to $5 
million for the 2026 budget. The fire department’s 2026 projected budget is nearly $7.26 million. Some of 
the gaps are filled with grants, fees for services, licenses and permits, but the budget shows a deficit of at 
least $544,314. The city’s fiscal year is Jan. 1 through Dec. 31. 

Financial projections show a deficit widening: The city’s 2026 budget report states that over the next five 
years, the city will need at least $5 million from general fund reserves to subsidize the fire/EMS. 

“Let me be clear. This city council has not committed to anything as of this writing,” Tanghe told The 
Oakland Press Monday, adding that he can’t predict whether the council would approve any of the 
suggestions for a millage increase. 

During the study session, Tanghe will present five scenarios for increasing the current 2.5 millage rate from 
between one and two mills. Tanghe said a one-mill increase is a short-term, unsustainable solution. 

No decisions are made during a study session, but the council could add the topic of a fire millage to the 
regular meeting agenda. 

If the board agrees an increase is needed, the question will go before voters later this year, Tanghe said. 

The original 2.5 mills set in 1983 residents paid for fire services was eroded by Headlee rollbacks to 1.76 
mills. In 2016 voters restored the rate to 2.5, Tanghe said. 

The economy and the cost for fire and emergency services have radically changed since 2016, he said. A 
city ambulance purchased in 2016 for about $200,000 will cost more than $400,000 to replace, he said, 
while the price of a fire-department ladder truck “is easily $1.5 million,” 



The city’s population between 2020 and this year has increased by about 25%, to more than 26,000 
residents. Firefighters are responding to 30% more calls for service, he said, because the number of visitors 
has also risen, with more people visiting shops at the Great Lakes Crossing Outlets and Top Golf among 
other businesses. Firefighters were dispatched to nearly 3,600 calls in 2020, but just over 4,600 in 2025. 

Tanghe said the new millage he’s proposing will also be considered a permanent millage. 

“Fire services are perpetual, as are the millages to support those services,” he said, adding that since the 
2016 Headlee override election, the city hasn’t asked voters for any other fire funding. 

The council’s study session is at 5:30 p.m. on Jan. 5 in the administrative conference room at city hall, 
1827 N. Squirrel Road in Auburn Hills, followed by the regular council meeting at 7 p.m. in the council 
chambers. Both meetings are open to the public. 



Oakland University moving forward with proposal for data center 
on campus  

Process is only in the beginning stages 

File photo. There are still several steps in the process before a new data center could be built on campus, but the university already 
has a private partner and will move forward with a feasibility study. (Stephen Frye / MediaNews Group) 
By Matthew Fahr | mfahr@medianewsgroup.com | The Oakland Press 
PUBLISHED: January 8, 2026 at 11:04 AM EST | UPDATED: January 11, 2026 at 11:58 AM EST 

Oakland University is moving forward with a new data center with an industry partner to take advantage 
of open space and access to a power source on campus. 

They have chosen Ohio-based Fairmount Properties to work on a new building located in Parking Lot 35, 
on the southwest end of campus adjacent to a DTE substation. It would include space to relocate OU’s 
current data center in Dodge Hall so the university can expand its research space and new artificial 
intelligence institute. 

The university will be looking for tenants for the 26-megawatt data center. 

Penny Vigneau, OU’s executive director for Economic Development, and Steven Mackey, senior vice 
president for Finance and Administration, gave an overview of the project to OU students last November. 

“We can partner with the data center and the tenants on different types of academic programs whether it 
be data center operations, data center safety, or cyber-security,” said Vigneau. “We want to participate 
with these tenants with data that is actually in the center and do research, whether that is (artificial 
intelligence), whether it’s related to education.  All of those fields that are important to OU, those are the 
tenants we want to see.” 

The proposed data center is different from larger data centers that have been in the news over the past 
year. 

The Edge and hyperscale data centers are distinguished by two main elements: physical proximity to the 
end-user and physical size of the data center. 



 
The proposed building would be located on the southwest end of OU's campus. It was chosen based on 
its proximity to a DTE substation. Photo courtesy OU  

Edge data centers are located closer to the end-user and are often smaller in size. They can be onsite in 
an urban office or local warehouse, in cell towers, or in regional centers. Size constraints often mean 
edge data centers consume less energy because they are equipped with less local processing power. 

Hyperscale data centers typically built in rural areas spread out over hundreds of acres, often for one 
user such as Google or Microsoft and are pumped with enough energy to power cities. 

“While OU may attract hyperscale-level tenants, this is not a hyperscale data center,” said Vigneau. 
“Hyperscale data centers (are) those are extremely large facilities with thousands of servers. This is not 
that.” 

There was no cost estimate given for the building, but the cost would be covered by Fairmont, who 
would work with OU to vet tenants for the building. 

But the project is far from guaranteed. 

OU will sign a contract with a firm within the next week to conduct a feasibility study which will include 
an environmental site assessment, evaluate utility services, site plan options, test for market potential for 
prospective tenants and find out if internet service providers have the bandwidth to support it. 

The university will also create a website for information on the project, hold feedback sessions and 
continue with presentations around campus. 

Mackey said he expects to complete due diligence by spring or summer 2026, before going to OU’s board 
with a business plan. 

“It will be a very transparent process, but we are only at the start right now,” said Mackey. “There will be 
a feasibility phase, a due diligence phase and then we will construct. If we get to the point where due 
diligence is a go, then we will be moving into the phase of development which is where we put a shovel 
into the ground.” 

“We are just starting this process to see if this is even going to work,” said Vigneau. 

 


	MEETING SCHEDULE
	January, 2026
	February, 2026

	AGENDA
	4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
	4a. City Council Workshop Minutes, January 5, 2026
	4b. City Council Regular Mtg Minutes, January 5, 2026

	5. APPOINTMENTS & PRESENTATIONS
	5a. Motion – To confirm the appointment to TIFA
	Long Application
	MOTION


	7. CONSENT AGENDA
	7a. Motion to receive and file the Board and Commission Minutes
	7a1. TIFA Informational Mtg Minutes, December 17, 2025
	7a2. TIFA Regular Mtg Minutes, December 17, 2025

	7b. Motion - To execute a purchase agreement for forested wetlands - Riverwalk Pathway Project
	Countersignature Cover Letter
	Draft_Resources Individual or Minor Permit
	Exhibit A -NE 1749-11P AH Riverwalk Purchase Agreement 0.54 PFO 12-24-25
	NE 1749-11P AH EGLE Bank Draft Ltr 12-24-25
	MOTION

	7c. Motion – To authorize the purchase of an annual VMware licensing and support subscription
	COUNCIL MEMO - Purchase of Annual VMWare Licensing
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION
	MOTION

	PRXT234
	MOTION

	MOTION
	7d. Motion - To amend the General Fund Assessing Budget
	MOTION

	7e. Motion –  To approve the purchase of water meters
	Attachment 1 - EJP Pricing 10-22-24
	Attachment 2 - Ferguson Enterprices INC - scanned
	Attachment 3 - Total meter order
	MOTION

	7f. Motion – To approve the upfit of a 2026 Ford Cab & Chassis
	Exhibit 1 - Auburn Hills F600 Swap RFQ Quote 122925
	MOTION


	9. NEW BUSINESS
	9a. Motion – To approve design services for the 2026 Civic Campus Improvements
	Exhibit 1 - cou-packet-09222025 9a
	Exhibit 2 - Scope-2026 Civic Campus Imp
	Exhibit 3 - Scope - OWL Island Design
	Exhibit 4 - Scope - OWL Service Building Design
	MOTION


	13. CLOSED SESSION
	13a. Motion - To meet in closed session
	MOTION

	INFORMATION
	DTE Notice
	News Articles
	Auburn Hills council studies options for potential new fire millage
	Oakland University moving forward with proposal for data center on campus





